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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

2018 was a good year—the result of a decade-long drive toward 
excellence.  Our capital projects have paid dividends in safety, 
reliability, earnings, sales, and customer service. We have seen 
improvements in the operations and performance at all three of 
our utilities.  In previous years, we set goals of being an innovative, 
growth, and best practice regional utility.  �is past year, we took 
major strides to achieve these goals. 

Let’s start with a review. Cash �ow from operations was up 100%, 
operating income 30%, margin 10%, and top line revenue increased by 7%.  In Corning, 
we achieved a decline in bare steel main, leaks, and bad debt. At Pike, we added employees 
and contractors, allowing us to separate from Orange & Rockland for operational and 
customer service support.  We did extensive tree trimming, line maintenance, and replaced 
approximately 100 poles. We also weathered Winter Storm Riley e�ectively to the bene�t of 
our customers. At Leatherstocking, we added main and increased the customer count. At 
all three companies, we achieved the operational targets outlined in our strategic plans. �e 
speci�cs of our achievements in 2018 are spelled out in greater detail in the o�cer letters that 
follow.

Again, our corporate goals have always been simple: (1) substantially enhance pro�tability and 
cash �ow, (2) grow rapidly, and (3) achieve excellence in all aspects of our supply, market, �eld 
operations, customer service, and �nance/back o�ce. We believed achieving these objectives 
would allow us to replicate our successes across ever larger platforms. We still believe this, 
but now we must prove we can keep our small company focus and culture in an ever-growing 
enterprise.

Organic growth opportunities abound--new service territories at Leatherstocking and Pike, 
and new capital projects at all three utilities. It sounds easy, “invest, grow, and pro�t.” It isn’t.  
While our size has been an advantage in �exibility, speed to market, customer service, and 
personal/personnel commitments; it is a detriment relative to available resources, both human 
and capital.  

�is is a company that has only one speed—fast. It’s hard to run ever faster. And yet, that is 
the direction we must go. �e risks are institutional fatigue and outpacing our resources and 
abilities. Managing these risks will be very challenging, and success is not guaranteed.

Yet despite these risks, I personally have faith in our team, our trade partners, and the 
customers and communities we serve. Our people have carried us thus far and have been 
committed to our success.  I believe our successes in 2018 will be exceeded in 2019 and 
beyond. I believe the resources we need to grow will become available, that our people are 
ready for the challenge, and that they have faith in their company.  We are hungry for the 
bigger and better. 

I hope you, our shareholder, have the same faith and vision.  Your support has allowed us to 
reach 2018.  Jonas Salk once said, “�e reward for work well done is the opportunity to do 
more.”  Your continued support will facilitate our future work and successes throughout the 
next decade, allowing us to achieve ever more.

Michael I. German
President and CEO
Michael I. German
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Finance and Rates 
 

In 2018, we had significant accomplishments in both the financial and regulatory 

areas. FY2018 was the first full year under the Corning Natural Gas (CNG) new rate 

order. Higher rates and volumes at Corning and higher volumes at Pike increased 

revenue by $4,234,994, or 14%.  Increasing revenue translated into higher margins of 

10.87%.   As we grow operating income, we continue to invest capital in improvements 

to our facilities. In 2018, the capital projects completed totaled $7,832,707.  These 

investments in facilities, pipeline, and services will pay dividends for years to come.  

Financial resources need to be available to grow.  In FY2018, we moved forward 

to secure debt financing at all three of our utilities. We refinanced $29 MM at CNG for a 

fixed rate of 4.16% with a ten-year maturity. We also refinanced $11.2 MM at Pike at 

4.92% for a ten-year term.  Leatherstocking refinancing should be successfully 

completed in 2019.  
In Finance and Rates, we have become more effective and efficient.  This is the 

result of significant staff efforts to improve reporting and handling of data.  Finance staff 

has undergone restructuring of duties and, in conjunction with process improvements, 

allows for more timely and better financial reporting and analysis. Over time, this will 

result in management and operational improvements at all three utilities.  

The acquisition of Pike County Light & Power continues to benefit the company.  

The integration of financial reporting, inventory, financing, and operations has been 

smooth and timely.  Finance and Rates will continue to support this subsidiary with goals 

of further efficiencies.   

We now operate three utility companies in two states and are subject federal, 

state, and local regulations.  This challenge requires us to best utilize every financial, 

human, and capital asset of the company. Our performance has shown marked 

improvement and has positioned us to move forward to further improve our operations.  

The goals of Corning Natural Gas Holding Corporation continue to focus on 

achieving improvements in operations, profitability, cash flow, and growth.  The 

improvements made in Finance and Rates in reporting, staff, physical environment, 

restructuring, and efficiencies have contributed to our success. While we are pleased 

with our progress, we also know that there are still opportunities waiting to be captured. 

 
Fi Sarhangi 
Chief Financial Officer 
 Corning, NY 
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Gas Operations and Customer Service

Operations has been focused on safety and reliability this past
decade and has made great strides.  Today we reap the benefits of
having replaced over 110 miles of main and 5,000 services.  We 
provide safer and more reliable service combined with reduced Lost 
and Unaccounted For gas (LUAF).

Corning’s 2016 rate case target was an LUAF at or below 2.2% of 
throughput. Our current LUAF has been reduced to about 0.5%. 
Over the same period, we reduced our leak backlog approximately
75%. In 2018, we replaced 10.7 miles of distribution main and more 
than 250 services. Our goal is zero leaks when we complete our pipe 
replacement in five to six years.

We enhanced our training and Operator Qualification programs by
completing the addition of a dedicated state-of-the-art facility 
allowing us to provide testing to our employees and contractors. 
These enhanced programs ensure us a superior workforce for 
system operation, growth, and profitability.  

Customer Service provides continued support to all our 
subsidiaries: Corning Natural Gas Corporation, Pike County Light & 
Power, and Leatherstocking Gas Company.  Customer Service 
successfully deployed and integrated our Customer Information and 
Billing System at Pike County Light & Power Company and has
substantially reduced customer arrears at all utility subsidiaries. 
The 2018 customer satisfaction survey performance of 92.2% reflects 
our superior service at Corning Natural Gas Corporation. The lack of
PAPUC and NYSDPS complaints at all three utilities is a testament to 
our customer focus.

While Customer Service continues to provide great service, make 
improvements in collections, and integration of subsidiary workflow,
Operations has focused on main replacement, leak reduction, and 
enhanced training. We have become an industry leader in these 
areas and expect continued improvement in 2019 and beyond.

Matt J. Cook
Vice President – Operations

Prometric Testing & Training Room 
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Energy Supply and Business Development 

 

All of Corning Natural Gas Holding Corporation’s utility subsidiaries are experiencing 
steady growth. The Corning Natural Gas (“CNG”) system added 51 new accounts during FY 
2018. The company anticipates customer growth will accelerate during FY 2019 as projects at 
the site of the former Corning hospital and growth at the new Corning hospital are completed. 
New infrastructure expansion is also planned in the Town of Campbell. 

CNG continues to consistently provide its residential customers with some of the 
lowest cost gas in New York State. During FY 2018, CNG’s residential cost of gas was the 3rd 
lowest or better for 9 out of 12 months of the 16 local distribution companies statewide. This 
trend is expected to continue throughout FY 2019. We have moved from depending on a third-
party asset manager for gas supply to our own people. The results have been outstanding for 
our customers and the company. 

Leatherstocking Gas Company (“LGC”) continues to expand its system and acquire new 
customers. During FY 2018, LGC’s customer base increased by 6.5%. The company has received 
one infrastructure grant via the Pipeline Investment Program managed by the Pennsylvania 
Department of Community & Economic Development. This grant helps the company reach a 
greater number of customers more rapidly, thereby allowing more people to lower their energy 
costs and carbon footprint. 

Pike County Light & Power Company continued to add new electric and natural gas 
customers during FY 2018. Energy usage on the system also increased primarily due to a colder 
winter and warmer summer than the previous year.  Electric usage increased from 76,757 mWh 
to 80,736 mWh, while natural gas usage increased from 93,816 Mcf to 147,525 Mcf. The 
company is currently reviewing several natural gas expansion plans at Pike. 

All three utility subsidiaries are in the process of upgrading and enhancing existing 
information technology infrastructure, cybersecurity protocols, websites, and social media 
capabilities. Additionally, Corning, Pike, and Leatherstocking continue to upgrade their 
customer safety education and community outreach programs. Our goals in these areas remain 
to provide customers (internal and external) superior customer service. 

FY 2018 saw  many  new developments in the energy  marketplace  that  created both 
challenges  and opportunities for  the companies  and  our customers. Remaining  focused  on 
growth  and  engaged  with  our customers  is  the  only  way  we  can  anticipate  the  coming 
challenges  and  turn  them  into  opportunities.   We  enter  2019  confident  of  achieving our 
energy supply, sales, and technology strategy goals. 
 
Russ Miller 

Vice President – Energy Supply and Business Development 

Susquehanna County Courthouse, Montrose, PA 
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The has been both an exciting and productive year. Pike County Light & Power (PCLP or 
Pike) has made progress in virtually all areas of operations.  We inherited a company 
without any employees, older infrastructure, and a neglected debt collection process. The 
Transition Services Agreement (TSA) with ORU was completed by June with all gas, 
electric, and customer service operating functions completely managed by Pike’s seven, 
new, full time employees, in addition to a full complement of contractors. We 
implemented the Customer Information Management System, a mapping system, an off-
hours call center, mutual aid agreements with Pennsylvania electric co-ops, and many 
other support areas.   

Additional highlights included a “baptism by fire,” managing the most significant weather 
event, since Super Storm Sandy, known as Winter Storm Riley.  Significant damage across 
the service territory occurred to the electric distribution system.  The PCLP team, with 
support from Corning Natural Gas and outside entities, restored all affected customers 
within ten days.  Beyond the storm restoration, normal capital improvement work 
commenced throughout the year with the replacement of approximately one hundred 
wooden poles that were either deemed defective through an intense pole inspection 
program, or were necessary for new electric service.  Utilizing the latest inspection 
technologies, Pike engaged a drone company to inspect distribution poles and lines by 
flying over the electric system. New drone technology performed infrared, pole top, and 
equipment inspections.   Other maintenance programs included the second year of 
vegetation management.  Overall, we’re moving aggressively to have a first-tier electric 
distribution system. 

  On the natural gas front, gas meters are being replaced with remote metering 
capabilities, as well as replacing existing bare steel services. PCLP filed its Long-Term 
Infrastructure Improvement Plan (LTIIP) for natural gas cast iron and bare steel 
replacement with the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (PAPUC). We also 
completed a comprehensive PAPUC Management Audit and are implementing programs 
and processes to comply with the PAPUC recommendations.  

 Pike County Light & Power Company will continue to increase its electric and natural gas 
capital improvement programs and expansion projects, connect new customers, and 
increase electric load through cooperative efforts with local municipal and business 
leaders, including the Pike County Economic Development Authority.  Our natural growth 
will be augmented by replicating 2018 efforts in infrastructure improvements, customer 
service, collections, and local initiatives. Pike County Light & Power has become a fully 
operational, community-focused utility. Operational excellence, system reliability, and 
organic growth will be the hallmarks of Pike for years to come.  

Steve Grandinali 
General Manager 

PCLP parking lot staffed with mutual aid vehicles during Winter Storm Riley 
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extended transition period for 
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of the Exchange Act. [ ] 
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completed at March 31, 2018, was $30,370,520. 
Number of shares of Common Stock outstanding as of the close of business on December 20, 2018: 
3,027,678 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

In accordance with General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K, certain information required by Part III 
will either be incorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement for Corning Natural Gas 
Holding Corporation’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders filed within 120 days after September 30, 
2018, or will be included in an amendment to this Form 10-K filed within that period. 
Information contained in this Form 10-K for fiscal 2018 period which is incorporated by reference 
contains certain forward looking statements which may be impacted by factors beyond the control of 
the Company, including but not limited to natural gas supplies, regulatory actions and customer 
demand. As a result, actual conditions and results may differ from present expectations. See 
“Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” below. 
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PART I 

ITEM 1 – BUSINESS 

General 

The Holding Company was incorporated in New York in July 2013 to serve as a holding company for 
the Gas Company and its dormant subsidiary, Corning Natural Gas Appliance Corporation (the 
“Appliance Company”). The Holding Company has 50% ownership interests in our joint ventures 
Leatherstocking Gas Company, LLC (“Leatherstocking Gas”), which includes its subsidiary, 
Leatherstocking Gas Development Corporation, and Leatherstocking Pipeline Company, LLC 
(“Leatherstocking Pipeline”). On August 31, 2016, the Company completed the stock purchase 
acquisition of Pike County Light & Power Company (“Pike”). 

The Company’s principal executive offices are located at 330 W. William Street, Corning New York, 
14830, the telephone number is (607) 936-3755, and our website is www.corninggas.com. 

Business 

The Company’s primary business, through its subsidiaries Corning Gas and Pike, is natural gas and 
electric distribution. Corning Gas serves approximately 15,000 residential, commercial, industrial and 
municipal customers in the Corning, Hammondsport and Virgil, New York, areas and two other gas 
utilities which serve the Elmira and Bath, New York, areas. It is franchised to supply gas service in all 
of the political subdivisions in which it operates. The Gas Company is under the jurisdiction of the 
New York Public Service Commission (“NYPSC”) which oversees and sets rates for New York gas 
distribution companies. In addition, the Gas Company has contracts with Corning Incorporated and 
Woodhull Municipal Gas Company, a small local utility, to provide maintenance service on their gas 
lines. Pike is an electric and gas utility regulated by the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
(“PAPUC”). Pike provides electric service to approximately 4,800 customers in the Townships of 
Westfall, Milford and the northern part of Dingman and in the Boroughs of Milford and Matamoras. 
Pike provides natural gas service to 1,200 customers in Westfall Township and the Borough of 
Matamoras. All of these communities are located in Pike County, Pennsylvania. Additionally, 
Leatherstocking Gas distributes gas in Susquehanna and Bradford Counties, Pennsylvania, and has an 
application pending before the NYPSC for authority to provide gas distribution services in Broome 
County, New York. Leatherstocking Pipeline, an unregulated company, serves one customer in 
Lawton, Pennsylvania. 

Gas and Electric Supply 

Corning Gas has contracted with various sources to provide natural gas to our distribution system. The 
Gas Company contracts for pipeline capacity, as well as storage capacity of approximately 736,000 
dekatherms (“Dth”). The Company manages its transportation and storage capacity with internal 
resources. Pike has contracted with Orange and Rockland Utilities, Inc. (“O&R”) to provide electricity 
and natural gas according to agreements until August 2019, subject to renewal. 

Corning Gas secured the NYPSC-required fixed price and storage gas supply for the 2018-2019 winter 
season and is managing its storage and gas supply contracts following its gas supply and acquisition 
plan. Assuming no extraordinary conditions for the winter season, gas supply, flowing and storage, will 
be adequate to serve its approximately 15,000 customers. 
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Corning Gas does not expect a shortage of natural gas to impact our business over the next five to ten 
years. Natural gas supply over the last several years has been positive, and domestic reserves and 
production have increased. This is especially true in proximity to our distribution network. We likewise 
anticipate no shortages of the necessary pipes and valves for safe distribution of natural gas, and 
continue to receive material inventory from various reliable sources. We also have confidence that our 
agreement with O&R will enable Pike to meet all of our electric and gas needs for Pike’s customers 
until August 2019, subject to renewal. 
  
Seasonality 
  
For both Corning Gas and Pike, business is highly seasonal in nature, sales for each quarter of the year 
vary and are not comparable. Sales vary depending on seasonal variations in temperature. Gas sales for 
Corning Gas and Pike peak in the winter, while Pike’s electric sales peak in the summer. 
  
  
Significant Customers 
  
The Gas Company has three major customers, Corning Incorporated, New York State Electric & Gas, 
and Bath Electric, Gas & Water Systems. These customers accounted for approximately 15.69% of our 
revenues in fiscal 2018 and 19.09% in fiscal 2017. The loss of any of these customers would have an 
adverse impact on our financial results. 
  
Employees 
  
The Company had 63 employees as of September 30, 2018, and 61 as of September 30, 2017. Of this 
total, approximately one third are union labor working under a union contract effective until April 5, 
2021. 
  
Competition 
  
Historically, the competition in the Gas Company’s residential market and Pike’s gas franchise 
territories has been primarily from electricity for water heating and clothes drying, and to a small 
degree, fuel oil and propane for heating. The price of gas remains low in comparison to that of 
alternative fuels in our service territories and our competitive position in the residential, commercial 
and industrial markets continues to be strong. When we expand our distribution system to attract new 
customers, our principal competition is oil and propane. Natural gas enjoys a price advantage over 
these fuels today. 
  
Environmental Regulation 
  
We believe we are in compliance with present federal, state and local provisions relating to the 
protection of the environment. We do not expect that continued compliance with these requirements 
will have any material adverse effect on our capital expenditures, earnings and financial position. The 
Company has no former manufactured gas plant sites (MGP) and is not a party to any environmental 
proceedings, litigation or complaints. 
  
Regulatory Matters 
  
As previously reported, on March 7, 2017, Corning Gas, the Staff of the N.Y. Department of Public 
Service, and Multiple Intervenors (which represents large industrial customers), signed and filed with 
the NYPSC, a Gas Rates Joint Proposal in Case 16-G-0369 (the “Joint Proposal”). On June 15, 2017, 
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the NYPSC issued an Order Adopting Terms of Joint Proposal and Establishing Gas Rate Plan (the 
“June 2017 Order”) adopting the Joint Proposal without substantive modification. 
  
See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – 
Regulatory Matters” for key terms of the 
Joint Proposal. 
Pike is operating under a rate order issued effective September 1, 2014 and extended to March 1, 2018 
and continuing until the next rate case under the terms of our acquisition (see below under the heading 
“Regulatory Matters – Pike”). 
 
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 

Our operations could be adversely affected by fluctuations in the price of natural gas and electricity. 
Prices for natural gas and electricity are subject to volatile fluctuations in response to changes in supply 
and other market conditions. While these costs are usually passed on to customers of the Gas Company 
pursuant to natural gas adjustment clauses, and to customers of Pike through the gas rate cost, and 
therefore do not pose a direct risk to earnings, we are unable to predict what effect a sharp increase in 
natural gas and electricity prices may have on our customers’ energy consumption or ability to pay. 
Higher prices to customers can lead to higher bad debt expense and customer conservation. Higher 
prices may also have an adverse effect on our cash flow as we are typically required to pay for our 
natural gas and electricity prior to receiving payments for the natural gas or electricity from our 
customers. 
Operational issues beyond our control could have an adverse effect on our business. 
Pike, Leatherstocking Gas and Gas Company’s ability to provide natural gas depends both on our own 
operations and facilities and that of third parties, including local gas producers and natural gas pipeline 
operators from whom we receive our natural gas supply. The loss of use or destruction of our facilities 
or the facilities of third parties due to extreme weather conditions, breakdowns, war, acts of terrorism 
or other occurrences could greatly reduce potential earnings and cash flows and increase our costs of 
repairs and replacement of assets. Although we carry property insurance to protect our assets, and 
regulatory policies of the NYPSC and PAPUC provide the opportunity for deferral and recovery of 
extraordinary incremental costs associated with losses for such incidents for the Gas Company, our 
losses may not be fully recoverable through insurance or customer rates. 
Significantly warmer than normal weather conditions may affect the sale of natural gas and 
significantly cooler than normal weather could affect our electric sales. Either could adversely 
impact our financial position and the results of our operations.  
The demand for natural gas and electricity are directly affected by weather conditions. Significantly 
warmer than normal weather conditions in the winter in our service areas could reduce our earnings 
and cash flows as a result of lower gas sales. Cooler summer weather would result in lower electricity 
sales for air conditioning. Corning Gas mitigates the risk of warmer winter weather through the 
weather normalization and revenue decoupling clauses in our tariffs. These clauses allow the Gas 
Company to surcharge customers for under-recovery of revenue. Pike and Leatherstocking Gas do not 
have weather normalization or revenue decoupling to mitigate the risk of warmer weather in the winter 
or cooler weather in the summer. 
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Information Technology 

Cyber-attacks or acts of cyber-terrorism could disrupt our business operations and information 
technology systems or result in the loss or exposure of confidential or sensitive customer, employee or 
Company information. 
Since February 2018, the Company has begun a three phase upgrade to information technology (“IT") 
hardware and software. Currently two of the three phases have been completed. The Company has 
hired an IT company to augment its existing IT staff and implement the required changes. System 
improvements include 24/7 firewall monitoring by Synoptek, cleanup of active directory, and review of 
internal credentials. The Company is utilizing Endeavor Services Group to maintain system integrity, 
upgrade the Company to an Office 365 environment, and implement a robust helpdesk capability. The 
Company has also implemented improved onboarding and offboarding capabilities as they relate to IT. 
The Company has begun a phishing assessment with KnowBe4 to test the current level of employee 
knowledge and ability to prevent the download of malware via e-mail attachments. KnowBe4 will 
provide a baseline report and ongoing training to improve employee awareness. 
The Company participated an American Gas Association (“AGA”) sponsored cybersecurity peer 
review in Columbus, Ohio in 2018. Data from this review will identify how the Company’s current 
cybersecurity configurate compares with other AGA members during 2019. 
The Gas Company’s cybersecurity capability was audited by the NYPSC in August of 2018. The 
official results have not yet been published but unofficial results indicate no major deficiencies. 
The Company has not been a victim of any cyber attacks that we were aware of. 
There are inherent risks associated with storing and transporting natural gas and distribution of 
electricity, which could cause us to incur significant financial losses. 
There are inherent hazards and operation risks in gas transportation and distribution activities, such as 
leaks, accidental explosions and mechanical problems that could cause substantial financial losses. 
There are also risks associated with the distribution of electricity. These risks could, if they occur, 
result in the loss of human life, significant damage to property, environmental pollution, impairment of 
operations and substantial losses. The location of pipelines, storage facilities and electric distribution 
near populated areas, including residential areas, commercial business centers and industrial sites, 
could increase the level of damages resulting from these risks. These activities may subject us to 
litigation and administrative proceedings that could result in substantial monetary judgments, fines or 
penalties. To the extent that the occurrence of any of these events is not fully covered by insurance, 
they could adversely affect our financial position and results of operations. 
Changes in regional economic conditions could reduce the demand for natural gas and electricity. 
The Gas Company’s business follows the economic cycle of the customers in our service regions: 
Corning, Bath, Virgil, and Hammondsport, New York. A falling, slow or sluggish economy that would 
reduce the demand for natural gas in the areas in which we are doing business by forcing temporary 
plant shutdowns, closing operations or slow economic growth would reduce our earnings potential. 
Pike is less likely to be affected by a sluggish economy as it presently has no large industrial 
customers. 
  
Many of our commercial and industrial gas customers use natural gas in the production of their 
products.  During economic downturns, these customers may see a decrease in demand for their 
products, which in turn may lead to a decrease in the amount of natural gas they require for production. 
During any economic slowdown there is typically an increase in individual and corporate customer 
bankruptcies.  
Pike has limited industrial customers and is therefore less vulnerable to economic conditions in its 
service territory. An increase in customer bankruptcies would increase our bad debt expenses and 
reduce our cash flows. 
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Our earnings may decrease in the event of adverse regulatory actions. 
  
Most of our operations are subject to the jurisdiction of the NYPSC or the PAPUC. The NYPSC and 
PAPUC approve the rates that we may charge to our customers. If we are required in a rate proceeding 
to reduce the rates we charge our customers, or if we are unable to obtain approval for rate relief, 
particularly when necessary to cover increased costs, including costs that may be incurred in 
connection with mandated infrastructure improvements, our earnings would decrease. 

 
Our success depends in large part upon the continued services of a number of significant employees, 
the loss of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operation. 
  
Our success depends in large part upon the continued services of our senior executives and other key 
employees. Although we have entered into an employment agreement with Michael I. German, our 
president and chief executive officer, he can terminate his agreement on ninety days’ notice. Other 
significant employees, who entered into change of control agreements on April 17, 2012 and December 
16, 2016, may terminate their employment at any time. The loss of the services of any significant 
employee could have a material adverse effect on our business. 
  
Concentration of share ownership among our largest shareholders may prevent other shareholders 
from influencing significant corporate decisions. 
  
The six largest holders of our common stock own approximately 60% of the outstanding stock. As a 
result, if any chose to act together, they would have the ability to exert substantial influence over all 
matters requiring approval by our shareholders, including the election and removal of directors and any 
proposed merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets and other corporate 
transactions. This concentration of ownership could be disadvantageous to other shareholders with 
differing interests from these shareholders. 
  
Our cash flows from operations may not be sufficient to fund our capital expenditures. 
  
We may not generate sufficient cash flows from operations to meet all of our cash needs.  As part of 
the Gas Company’s June 2017 Order by the NYPSC, we have estimated capital expenditures to 
upgrade our distribution system of approximately $6.0 million in fiscal year 2018 through 2020.  We 
also continue to have debt retirement obligations of approximately $3.0 million per year at the Gas 
Company and $1.0 million per year at Pike. Additionally, we estimate investments into 
Leatherstocking Gas of between $100,000 to $300,000 for fiscal years 2019 and 2020, respectively, to 
fund our one-half of the cost (based on ownership interest) of capital projects. 
  
We will require additional financing which may be difficult or costly to obtain. 
  
In order to fund our extraordinary capital expenditures, we will need to obtain additional equity and/or 
debt financing. The sale of additional equity securities could result in dilution to our shareholders.  The 
incurrence of debt would result in increased debt service obligations and could result in operating and 
financing covenants that would restrict our operations.  Additional financing for the Gas Company 
requires NYPSC approval and for Pike requires PAPUC approval. Additional financing for either 
company may have unacceptable terms or may not be available at all for various reasons including: 

* limits placed on us by our current lenders in our loan agreements, 

* our future results of operations, financial condition and cash flows,  

* our inability to meet our business plan,  
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* lenders’ or investors’ perception of, and demand for, securities of natural gas utilities, and  

* conditions of the capital markets in which we may seek to raise funds. 
  
If we cannot raise additional capital on acceptable terms, we may not be able to finance the expansion 
and mandated upgrading of our distribution system, take advantage of future opportunities or respond 
to competitive pressures, or respond to unanticipated capital requirements. This financing could be 
adversely affected by the above factors. 
The Company’s profitability may be adversely affected by increased competition.  
Corning Gas is in a geographical area with a number of interstate pipelines and local production 
sources. If a major customer decided to connect directly to either an interstate pipeline or a local 
producer, our earnings and revenues would decrease. 
Changes to the Tax Code. 
In December 2017, Congress enacted, and the President signed, significant changes to the federal 
income tax code known as The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Act”). The legislation significantly 
changes U.S. tax law by, among other things, permanently reducing the U.S. corporate income tax rate 
from a maximum of 35% to a flat 21% rate, effective January 1, 2018. As part of the Tax Act, 
taxpayers with a tax year-end other than December 31, 2017 had to prorate their tax rate applicable for 
their entire fiscal year.  As a result, since the Company has a tax year ended of September 30, 2018, 
their federal income tax rate for fiscal year 2018 will be 24.25%.  As a result of the reduction in the 
U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% under the Tax Act, the Company revalued its ending 
U.S. net deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2017.  These changes have affected our balance sheet 
income statement and cash flow as the New York and Pennsylvania commissions have issued orders 
that require the Company to return to Corning gas and Pike electric customers the difference between 
the federal income tax allowance in base rates and the new statuary rate of 21% This did not impact 
Pike gas or Leatherstocking Gas. The refund to customers began on October 1, 2018. The non-
regulated segments of the Company’s operation are not subject to the Commission Orders. The vast 
majority of the tax benefits will be refunded to customers via bill sur-credits or the next base rate case. 

 

ITEM 2 – PROPERTIES 
  
Corning Gas and the Holding Company’s headquarters are located at 330 West William Street, 
Corning, New York. This structure is physically connected to the operations center. Leatherstocking 
headquarters are officially in Binghamton, New York and its operations center is located in Corning, 
New York. Pike’s headquarters and operation center are in Westfall, Pennsylvania. 
  
The Gas Company’s pipeline system is surveyed each year as required for compliance with federal and 
state regulations. Any deficiencies found are corrected as mandated. Approximately 425 miles of 
distribution main, 15,000 services, and 86 regulating stations, along with various other properties, are 
owned by the Gas Company, except for one section of 10" gas main that is under long term lease. All 
of the property owned by the Gas Company is adequately insured and is subject to the lien of the Gas 
Company’s first mortgage indenture. The Leatherstocking Companies own four gate stations and 
approximately 16 miles of pipe in Susquehanna and Bradford Counties, Pennsylvania. Pike owns 
approximately 160 miles of electric distribution wire and poles and 21 miles of gas distribution pipe. 
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ITEM 3 - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
  
The Company has lawsuits pending of the type incurred in the normal course of business and the 
Company believes that any potential losses should be covered by insurance and will not have a 
material impact on the business. 
  
ITEM 4 – MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 
  
Not applicable. 
  
PART II 
  
ITEM 5 - MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

The principal market on which the Holding Company’s common stock is traded is the OTCQX Best 
Marketplace, under the symbol CNIG. Trading in the common stock is limited and sporadic. The 
following table sets forth the high and low closing sale prices as reported on the OTCQX for the 
Holding Company’s common stock for each quarter within the Holding Company’s last two fiscal 
years. Because the Holding Company’s stock is traded on the OTCQX, these quotations reflect inter-
dealer prices, without retail markup, markdown or commission and may not represent actual 
transactions. The number of shareholders of record of the Holding Company’s common stock was 618 
at September 30, 2018. Per share amounts for the dates presented in the table have been retroactively 
restated to reflect the stock split that occurred during the year ended September 30, 2017. See Note 9 in 
the consolidated financial statements. 
  

  
MARKET PRICE - 

(OTCQX)                   
                      
  Quarter Ended       High       Low   
  December 31, 2016       23.75       17.55   
  March 31, 2017       22.50       18.50   
  June 30, 2017       24.00       18.48   
  September 30, 2017       21.25       18.35   
  December 31, 2017       20.50       18.22   
  March 31, 2018       19.50       17.51   
  June 30, 2018       18.51       17.01   
  September 30, 2018       19.01       17.10   
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COMMON STOCK, PREFERRED STOCK, AND DIVIDENDS 

On April 27, 2017, at its regular meeting, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a 20% common 
stock dividend payable to holders of record of its Common Stock on May 30, 2017, payable on or 
about June 15, 2017. The dividend is equivalent to one share of common stock issued for each five 
shares of common stock outstanding. There were 498,310 shares issued. The relative number of the 
additional shares issued made the substance of the transaction that of a stock split effected in the form 
of a dividend. It was the Company’s intent to obtain wider distribution and improved marketability of 
the shares. In accordance with this transaction there was no adjustment to the stated par value of the 
common stock and the Company recorded the transaction at par value. In connection with this dividend 
the conversion price for the preferred shares Series B adjusted from one share of common stock to 1.2 
shares. The Company has retrospectively restated the financial statements, share and per share 
information included in this annual report on a post-split basis. 

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, there were a total of 27,054 shares of common stock 
issued for $223,783 of services and $165,075 in connection with the DRIP (dividend reinvestment 
program). There were 16,725 shares issued to officers and directors, 750 shares sold to Leatherstocking 
Gas, which used the shares to compensate its independent director, Carl Hayden, and 9,579 shares 
issued to various investors under the DRIP. 

Dividends on shares of common stock are accrued when declared by the board of directors. For the 
quarter ended December 31, 2016, $372,347 was accrued for dividends paid on January 15, 2017 to 
stockholders of record on December 31, 2016. For the quarter ended March 31, 2017, $397,997 was 
accrued for dividends paid on April 15, 2017 to stockholders of record on March 31, 2017. For the 
quarter ended June 30, 2017, $403,684 was accrued for dividends paid on July 15, 2017 to 
stockholders of record on June 30, 2017. For the quarter ended September 30, 2017, $403,990 was 
accrued for dividends paid on October 15, 2017 to stockholders of record on September 30, 2017. For 
the quarter ended December 31, 2017, $405,328 was accrued for dividends paid on January 15, 2018 to 
stockholders of record on December 31, 2017. For the quarter ended March 31, 2018, $421,110 was 
accrued for dividends paid on April 16, 2018 to stockholders of record on March 31, 2018. For the 
quarter ended June 30, 2018, $421,932 was accrued for dividends paid on July 16, 2018 to 
stockholders of record on June 30, 2018. For the quarter ended September 30, 2018, $422,739 was 
accrued for dividends paid on October 12, 2018 to stockholders of record on September 30, 2018. 

Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock accrues cumulative dividends at a rate of 6.0% of the liquidation 
preference per share ($25.00) and are expected to be paid on or about the 14th day of April, July, 
October and January of each year. For the quarter ended September 30, 2018, $78,975 was accrued for 
the dividend paid on October 12, 2018. Dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock are reported as 
interest expense. Series B Convertible Preferred Stock accrues cumulative dividends at a rate of 4.8% 
of the liquidation preference per share ($20.75) and are expected to be paid on or about the 14th day of 
April, July, October and January of each year. For the quarter ended September 30, 2018, $61,066 was 
accrued for dividends paid on October 12, 2018. 
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ITEM 7 - MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
Overview 
  
The Holding Company’s primary business, through its subsidiaries, is natural gas and electric 
distribution. Corning Gas, the largest subsidiary, serves approximately 15,000 customers through over 
425 miles of pipeline in the Corning, Hammondsport and Virgil, New York areas. The market for 
natural gas in our traditional service territory is relatively saturated with limited growth potential. 
However, growth opportunities do exist in extending our mains to areas adjacent or reasonably close to 
areas we currently serve. In addition, the Gas Company continues to see expansion opportunities in the 
commercial and industrial markets. Pike serves approximately 4,800 electric and 1,200 gas customers 
in Pike County, Pennsylvania. Economic activity and population growth offers the opportunity for 
revenue improvement. In addition, the Holding Company has 50% interests in two joint ventures, 
Leatherstocking Gas and Leatherstocking Pipeline , to pipe gas to areas of the northeast currently 
without gas service. We continue to focus on improving the efficiency of our operations and making 
capital investments to improve our infrastructure. 
  
Our key performance indicators are net income and stockholders’ equity. 
  

      Year Ended September 30,   
      2018       2017   
Net income   

 
$2,144,268     

 
$2,100,628   

Stockholders' equity   
 

$32,840,724     
 

$32,343,059   
Stockholders' equity per outstanding share   

 
$10.87     

 
$10.80   

  
In 2018, our operating income increased approximately $1.4 million over 2017. This increase was 
primarily the result of an increase in margin of $2.5 million. Our consolidated net income after tax was 
approximately $2.1 million (after Preferred A dividends and before Preferred B dividends). This was 
an increase of approximately $0.1 million from the prior year. In 2018, pre-tax income increased by 
$1,026,852 or 36.7%. This increase was substantially offset by an increase in federal and state income 
taxes of $983,212. 
  
 As the parent of regulated utility companies, stockholders’ equity is an important performance 
indicator for us. The NYPSC and PAPUC allows the Gas Company and Pike to earn a reasonable 
return on its book equity. Therefore, stockholders’ equity is a precursor of future earnings potential. In 
2018, stockholders’ equity increased approximately $500,000 due mainly to an increase in paid in 
capital of $235,424 and increase to retained earnings of $228,896 which represents net income for the 
period less dividends declared of $1,915,372. 
  
The company has two other performance indicators one is operational/safety measures and the other is 
cash flow from operations. Performance indicators include leak repair, main and service replacements 
and customer service metrics. In 2018, we invested $7.8 million in system improvement and projects, 
repairing 134 leaks and replacing 249 services and 9.8 miles of main. In 2017, we invested 
approximately $6.4 million in system improvement and projects, repairing 251 leaks and replacing 281 
services and 11.1 miles of main. At Pike, we are currently implementing metrics similar to the Gas 
Company and using standard electric reliability metrics. Cash flow from operations increased from 
$2,951,887 to $5,885,984 between FY2017 and FY2018 respectively. This improvement occurred 
despite $1.4 million spent on winter storm Riley at Pike during FY2018. 
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Our customer service group has implemented several changes to positively impact our customers. 
Customers have had the option of third party payment of their gas bill through their banking institution. 
We have also instituted online meter reading. Bill processing has been consolidated to shorten the time 
between meter readings and mailing, allowing a more direct link between the consumption of gas and 
the receipt by the customer of their bill. In 2015, due to our new customer information system we were 
able to institute on-line bill paying. Our principal customer service metric is the number of customer 
complaints. In 2018, the NYPSC reported 3 complaints against the Gas Company. In 2017, the 
NYSPSC recorded 9 complaints. None of these complaints were marked as major or unresolved 
against the Gas Company since all were resolved in a timely manner. A similar metric for recording 
customer complaints exists in Pennsylvania for both Leatherstocking Gas and Pike. 
  
Earnings 
  
Earnings on a consolidated basis were as follows: 
  

Net income                 
      2018       2017   
Utility net income   

 
$2,276,099     

 
$2,231,803   

Loss from Joint ventures     (131,831 )     (131,175 ) 
Net income   

 
$2,144,268     

 
$2,100,628   

                  
Utility operating revenue                 
      2018       2017   
Retail electric revenue:                 
Residential   

 
$4,061,857     

 
$3,855,286   

Commercial     4,222,811       4,166,882   
Street lights     128,137       84,073   
Total retail electric revenue     8,412,805       8,106,241   
                  
Retail gas revenue:                 
Residential   

 
$15,926,261     

 
$12,906,325   

Commercial     2,605,985       2,103,918   
Transportation     4,364,457       4,188,523   
Wholesale     2,006,685       1,627,027   
Total retail gas revenue     24,903,388       20,825,793   
                  
Total retail revenue     33,316,193       28,932,034   
                  
Local production     807,128       524,510   
Other utility revenues     153,840       585,623   
Total revenue   

 
$34,277,161     

 
$30,042,167   
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The following tables further summarize other income on the utility revenue table above: 
   
      2018       2017   
Other utility revenues:                 
Customer discounts forfeited   

 
$110,618     

 
$113,177   

Reconnect fees     2,100       2,750   
Other gas and electric revenues (see below)     21,432       463,414   
Surcharges     19,690       6,282   
Total other utility revenues   

 
$153,840     

 
$585,623   

                  
      2018       2017   
Other gas &electric revenues:                 
Delivery rate adjustment carrying costs   

 
$5,018     

 
$4,619   

RDM amortizations net     (41,522 )     (323,537 ) 
Contract customer reconciliation     (77,476 )     287,676   
Revenue write-off from Pike purchase     174,104       —     
Customer performance incentive     32,000       —     
Annual MFC reconciliations     —         (2,554 ) 
Local production revenues     2,731       134,215   
Annual DRA Reconciliation     (148,187 )     (282,311 ) 
Pole attachment billings     102,811       219,950   
Write off non-refundable customer deposits     —         195,132   
Rate case make whole adjustment     —         326,631   
Regulatory deficiencies     —         (98,522 ) 
All Other     (28,047 )     2,115   
    

 
$21,432     

 
$463,414   

  
In 2018 our operating revenue increased by approximately $4.2 million or 14.1%. The increase was 
mainly attributable to an increase in Pike gas revenues of $0.4 million and a $3.8 million increase in 
Corning Gas revenues. 
  

Margin                 
      2018       2017   
Utility Electric Revenues   

 
$8,600,381     

 
$8,562,787   

Electricity Purchased     2,659,264       2,534,197   
Margin   

 
$5,941,117     

 
$6,028,590   

      69.08% 
 
    70.40% 

                   
Utility Gas Revenues   

 
$25,676,780     

 
$21,479,380   

Natural Gas Purchased     7,048,801       5,348,184   
Margin   

 
$18,627,979     

 
$16,131,196   

      72.55% 
 
    75.10% 

   
  
  
Our utility gas margin (the excess of utility operating revenues over the cost of natural gas purchased) 
increased approximately $2.5 million from 2017 to 2018. This increase was mainly attributable to 
increased volumes and prices at the Gas Company. The margin decrease of 2.55% primarily results 
from the timing of fuel cost recovery between 2018 and 2017 thru the company cycle billings. 
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We anticipate that the cost of gas should remain relatively stable because of our access to local 
production and current economic and government projections. The cost of electricity should also 
remain relatively stable because of Pike’s supply agreement with O&R. 

  
Operating Expenses 
  
Operating and maintenance expenses increased approximately $0.1 million from 2017 to 2018 due to 
normal inflation and a number of small storms at Pike. 
  
Investment Income 
  
Investment income decreased by $132,701 to $80,174 in 2018 due to lower realized gains and 
dividends on the Company’s marketable securities. 
  
Effective Tax Rate 
  
There was an effective income tax rate of 44% for the year ended September 30, 2018 and 25% for the 
year ended September 30, 2017. 
  
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
  
Internally generated cash from operating activities consists of net income, adjusted for non-cash 
expenses and changes in operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash items include depreciation and 
amortization, gain or loss on sale of securities and deferred income taxes. Over or under recovered gas 
costs significantly impact cash flow. In addition, there are significant year-to-year changes in 
regulatory assets that impact cash flow. Cash flows used in investing activities consist primarily of 
capital expenditures and investments in our joint ventures. As part of the Joint Proposal approved in the 
June 2017 Order, we have estimated capital expenditures to upgrade our distribution system of 
approximately $6 million in fiscal 2018 through 2020. We expect to finance these planned capital 
expenditures with a combination of cash provided by operations and issuance of additional long-term 
debt and equity. 
  
The earnings sharing mechanism approved by the NYPSC in the June 2017 Order provided for sharing 
between Corning Gas stockholders and customers of the earned return on equity (ROE) above certain 
levels. Under the earnings sharing mechanism, Corning Gas is allowed to retain all earnings up to and 
including a 9.5% ROE level, 50% of earnings above 9.5% up to and including 10%, 25% of earnings 
above 10% up to and including 10.5%, and 10.0% of earnings above 10.5%. We believe that these 
limits do not have a significant effect on our liquidity because even at those limits we have sufficient 
cash collected from our earnings to support operations. 
  
Cash flows from financing activities consist of dividends paid, repayment of long-term debt, new debt 
and changes in the outstanding balances of our lines-of-credit. For Corning Gas, we have a revolving 
line of credit of $8.0 million at a variable interest rate determined by the Gas Company’s funded debt 
to EBITDA ratio calculated ninety days after the end of each quarter added to the daily LIBOR rate. 
This line expires on April 1, 2019. The amount outstanding under this line on September 30, 2018 was 
approximately $5.4 million with an interest rate of 4.91%. Our lender has a purchase money security 
interest in all our natural gas purchases utilizing funds advanced by the bank under the credit 
agreement and all proceeds of sales and accounts receivable from the sale of that gas. Pike also has a 
revolving line of credit of $2.0 million at an interest rate equal to LIBOR plus 2.75% with principal 
repayable on demand by the lender. As of September 30, 2018, the amount outstanding was 
approximately $1.3 million.On September 30, 2018, we had approximately $40.7 million in long term 
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debt outstanding. We made principal payments on outstanding debt during fiscal year 2018 consistent 
with the requirements of our debt instruments and refinancing activities. On November 30, 2017, the 
Gas Company entered into a long-term debt agreement with Manufactures and Traders Trust Company 
(“M&T”) Bank for $29 million at a fixed rate of 4.16% with a ten year maturity (the “November 2017 
Credit Agreement”). This debt replaced all of the Gas Company long term debt and is secured by all 
personal property of the Gas Company including, among other things, accounts, deposit accounts, 
general intangibles, inventory, and all fixtures, including, among other things, pipelines, easements, 
rights of way and compressors in the Gas Company’s distribution system. The November 2017 security 
agreement contains various representations, warranties, covenants and agreements customary in 
security agreements and various events of default with remedies under the New York Uniform 
Commercial Code and the security agreement. This refinancing is consistent with our June 2017 
NYSPSC rate order. The November 2017 term note may be prepaid upon payment of a prepayment 
premium equal to the greater of 1% of the amount prepaid or the present value of the spread between 
the 4.16% fixed interest rate of the 2017 term note and the then current “market rate” based on the 
most recent U.S. Treasury Obligations with a term corresponding to the remaining period to the 
maturity date. 
  
On May 23, 2018, Pike entered into a credit agreement (the “May 2018 Credit Agreement”) with M&T 
and refinanced its outstanding loan with M&T, issuing an $11.2 million term note pursuant to the May 
2018 Credit Agreement. The Pike credit agreement contains various affirmative and negative 
covenants of Pike including: a total funded debt to EBITDA ratio of not greater than 3.75 to 1.0, 
measured quarterly based on Pike’s trailing twelve month operating performance and fiscal quarterly 
financial statements; a minimum cash flow coverage of not less than 1.10 to 1.0, measured quarterly 
based on Pike’s trailing twelve month operating performance and fiscal quarterly financial statements; 
compliance and financial statement requirements; and prohibitions on changes in management or 
control, any sale of all or substantially all of its assets, acquisitions of substantially all the assets of any 
other entity, or other material changes to its business, purposes, structure or operations which could 
materially adversely affect Pike. The note bears interest at 4.92%. The note is payable in 119 
consecutive monthly payments of $118,763 plus accrued interest, beginning on June 23, 2018 with a 
final payment of unpaid principal and interest on the maturity date of May 23, 2028. The note is 
secured by all personal property of Pike. Pike will owe a pre-payment penalty of 1% on any pre-paid 
principal made in advance of the maturity date. 
  
On August 15, 2018, the Gas Company entered into a $3.6 million multiple disbursement term note 
with M&T which permitted draws from time to time in accordance with its terms until October 31, 
2018 at which time amounts outstanding under the note totaling $3.6 million converted to a ten year 
term loan, payable in 119 equal monthly installments with an additional final installment of unpaid 
principal and interest due on October 31, 2028. Before converting to a term loan, the note had a 
variable interest rate of the one-month LIBOR rate plus 3% (5.26% as of September 30, 2018). After 
October 31, 2018, the interest rate was fixed at 4.92%. Additional terms of this note are substantially 
the same as those in the November 2017 Credit Agreement. As of September 30, 2018 the amount 
borrowed was $2.5 million. The remaining $1.1 million was borrowed in October 2018. 
  
The Gas Company is responsible for managing its gas supply assets. At September 30, 2018, the Gas 
Company had 657,293 Dth at a cost of $1,620,916 in storage. As the result of these actions, we 
anticipate that the Gas Company will have sufficient gas to supply our customers for the 2018-2019 
winter heating season. The contract with O&R should provide for sufficient electricity and natural gas 
to supply Pike for the 2018-2019 winter heating and summer cooling demand. 
  
As of September 30, 2018, we believe that cash flow from operating activities and borrowings under 
our lines of credit will be sufficient to satisfy debt service requirements over the next twelve months. 
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We believe new debt and proceeds from equity will be required to satisfy our capital expenditures to 
finance our internal growth needs for the next twelve months. 

  
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 
  
We have no off balance sheet arrangements. 
  
Contractual Obligations 
  
The following tables summarize the Gas Company’s expected future contractual cash obligations as of 
September 30, 2018, and the twelve-month periods over which they occur. 
  

 The aggregate maturities of long-term debt for each of the five years subsequent to September 30, 2018 
are as follows: 

  
  2019     

 
$3,793,998   

  2020     
 

$3,959,043   
  2021     

 
$10,653,804   

  2022     
 

$3,384,210   
  2023     

 
$3,534,150   

   The estimated interest payments on the above debts are as follows:   
  2019     

 
$1,769,026   

  2020     
 

$1,612,541   
  2021     

 
$1,398,830   

  2022     
 

$859,534   
  2023     

 
$709,594   

              
  The estimated pension plan benefit payments are as follows:   
  2019     

 
$1,325,795   

  2020     
 

$1,409,858   
  2021     

 
$1,458,455   

  2022     
 

$1,450,201   
  2023     

 
$1,458,056   

  
The projected benefit obligation of the benefit plan has been calculated based on the census and plan 
provisions, as well as a number of economic and demographic assumptions. The discount rate for the 
period ending September 30, 2018 is 4.89% and is assumed to be the rate going forward. A decrease in 
the discount rate of 1% could increase the projected benefit obligation by $2.89 million and an increase 
in the discount rate of 1% could decrease the obligation by $2.3 million. Either change would impact 
the estimated pension plan payment for future periods. 
Lines of Credit and Short Term Debt 
  
On May 8, 2017 the Gas Company entered into an agreement with M&T for a revolving line of credit 
of $8.0 million at a variable interest rate determined by the Gas Company’s funded debt to EBITDA 
ratio calculated ninety days after the end of each quarter added to the daily LIBOR rate. This line 
expired on April 1, 2018. The line of credit has been renewed under the same terms and expires on 
April 1, 2019. The amount outstanding under this line on September 30, 2018 was approximately $5.4 
million with an interest rate of 4.91%. The maximum amount outstanding during the year ended 
September 30, 2018 was $7,920,609. Our lender has a purchase money security interest in all our 
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natural gas purchases utilizing funds advanced by the bank under the credit agreement and all proceeds 
of sale and accounts receivable from the sale of that gas. 
  
On August 31, 2016, Pike entered into an agreement with M&T for a $2.0 million revolving line of 
credit at an interest rate equal to LIBOR plus 2.75% with principal repayable on demand by the lender. 
The line of credit has been renewed under the same terms and expires on April 26, 2019. The amount 
outstanding under this line on September 30, 2018 was approximately $1.3 million with an interest rate 
of 5.06%. The maximum amount outstanding during the year ended September 30, 2018 was 
$1,841,429. The agreement contains various affirmative and negative covenants of Pike including, (i) a 
total funded debt to tangible net worth ratio of not greater than 1.4 to 1.0, (ii) a total funded debt to 
EBITDA ratio of not greater than 3.75 to 1.0, and (iii) a minimum cash flow overage of not less than 
1.1 to 1.0, with each of the financial covenants measured quarterly based on Pike’s trailing twelve 
month operating performance and fiscal quarterly financial statements commencing with the period 
ended September 30, 2017; compliance, accounting, and financial statement requirements, and 
prohibitions on changes in management or control, any sale of all or substantially all of its assets, 
acquisitions of substantially all the asset of any other entity, or other material changes to its business, 
purposes, structure or operations which could materially adversely affect Pike. 
  
In addition, M&T issued to O&R a letter of credit in the amount of $1.525 million as security for the 
obligations of Pike under the Electric Supply Agreement and the Gas Supply and Gas Transportation 
Agreement, each, as amended, dated August 31, 2016, three years of electric and gas supply for the 
customers of Pike, with up to three one-year extensions. 
  
Regulatory Matters  
  
Holding Company 
  
On April 11, 2016, the Holding Company filed a petition in Case 16-G-0200 with the NYPSC, seeking 
a declaratory ruling that Public Service Law Section 70(4), which pertains to the acquisition of more 
than 10 percent of the voting capital stock of a gas corporation, does not apply to the exercise of rights 
to convert the 4.8% Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (see Note 9 – Stockholders’ Equity for 
additional information) to common stock of the Holding Company, or that, if that section is applicable 
at all to the Holding Company, there is no need for NYPSC approval under the statute because the 
relevant subscription rights are to be issued pro-rata to existing shareholders, thereby limiting the 
potential changes in relative ownership concentration that are the focus of Section 70(4). In the 
alternative, if the NYPSC determined that the statute applies to the conversion of preferred shares to 
common shares in the Holding Company, the Holding Company requested that the NYPSC approve 
such acquisition of common shares by shareholders of the Holding Company whose ownership 
interests exceed 10 percent of the Holding Company’s stock. On August 1, 2016, the NYPSC issued an 
order in Case 16-G-0200. Although the NYPSC declined to issue the requested declaratory ruling that 
Public Service Law 70(4) is inapplicable, the NYPSC approved the exercise of conversion rights on a 
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock by our three holders of 10% or more of our common stock. The 
three holders, our President Michael German, funds controlled or with investments managed by Mario 
Gabelli, and the Article 6 Marital Trust under the First Amended and Restated Jerry Zucker Revocable 
Trust, reported on filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission that they acquired 
57,936, 73,398 and 0 shares of our Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, respectively. There can be no 
assurance that any of such shares will actually be converted into our common stock. 
 
The Holding Company’s primary business, through its subsidiaries Corning Gas and Pike, is regulated 
by the NYPSC and PAPUC, among other agencies. 
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Gas Company 
  
On April 13, 2016, the Gas Company filed a petition in Case 16-G-0204 with the NYPSC, to defer leak 
repair and survey costs over and above the amounts permitted to be recovered in rates for 2015. In this 
petition we requested that the incremental cost of $349,547 together with the associated income tax 
effect, be deferred and recovered in a manner to be established in future rate proceedings. The 
Company recognized this deferral in the quarter ended March 31, 2016. The petition is still pending 
before the NYSPSC. 
  
On June 15, 2017, the NYPSC issued an Order Adopting Terms of Joint Proposal and Establishing Gas 
Rate Plan (the “June 2017 Order”) adopting the Joint Proposal without substantive modification in 
Case16-G-0369. 
  
As adopted by the June 2017 Order, the Joint Proposal is a comprehensive settlement extending for 
three consecutive Rate Years (the twelve months ending May 31, 2018, 2019 and 2020) and permits 
Corning Gas to increase its base rates for gas delivery service. The new base rates under the June 2017 
Order, when offset by the elimination of existing surcharges at the beginning of Rate Year 1 and 
levelized over the three Rate Years, result in the following incremental revenue increases over the prior 
Rate Year: Rate Year 1 - $1,558,553, Rate Year 2 - $1,573,706, and Rate Year 3 - $1,556,594, 
equating to increases of approximately 6.2%, 5.9% and 5.5%, respectively, as a percentage of total 
delivery revenues including gas costs. The Joint Proposal, as adopted, permits a rate of return on 
common equity of 9.0%, and an “Earnings Sharing Mechanism” that provides for Corning Gas to 
retain all earnings above 9.00% up to and including 9.50%, and for customers to retain 50% of the 
earnings above 9.50% up to and including 10.00%, 75% of earnings above 10.00% up to and including 
10.50%, and 90% of earnings above 10.50%. 
   
The Joint Proposal provides true-ups for property taxes, pension costs, and plant additions and 
continues performance metrics for safety and customer satisfaction from the prior rate case. Although 
the stringency of certain performance measures and the amount of certain negative revenue 
adjustments for failure to meet specific standards are increased, the Joint Proposal, as approved by the 
June 2017 Order, also provides opportunities for positive revenue adjustments for exceeding applicable 
standards with regard to certain measures. Because the June 2017 Order approving the Joint Proposal 
was issued after the June 1, 2017 commencement of Rate Year 1 of the three-year rate plan and new 
rates did not go into effect until July 1, 2017, the 2017 Order provides for each of the Gas Company 
and its customers to be placed in the same position in which they would have been if the new rates had 
gone into effect as of June 1, 2017. Any resulting revenue adjustments in favor of the Gas Company 
are deferred for future recovery, with interest. 
  
By petition dated June 13, 2017, Corning Gas requested authority under Public Service Law (PSL) §69 
to issue approximately $44 million of long-term debt through December 31, 2020. In its petition, 
Corning Gas requested permission to refinance all or a portion of its existing loans with a ten-year 
fixed rate loan (“Refunding Debt”). In addition, the Corning Gas requested authority to issue new debt 
through December 31, 2020 to fund its future construction expenditures, repay short-term debt incurred 
to finance previous years’ construction expenditures, and to refinance its maturing debt obligations 
(“New Debt”). The NYSPSC in an order issued November 17, 2017, authorized the Corning Gas to 
issue up to $26 million for Refunding Debt and New Debt issuances of up to $18 million. 
  
On August 9, 2018 The NYSPSC issued an order in Case 17-M-0815 that required the Company to 
return to customers the difference between the federal income tax allowance in base rates and the new 
statutory rate of 21%. The refund to customers began on October 1, 2018. The customers will 
experience a decrease of 5.20% on their overall bill in the year starting October 1, 2018 and 7.83% in 
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the year starting October 1, 2019. The amount returned to customers will be $1,317,719 and 
$2,112,540 respectively. These refunds will not impact the Company’s allowed earnings. The impact 
of the change in the tax act on deferred regulatory balances will be deferred until the Company’s next 
base rate case. The company has recorded those amounts as a Regulatory Liabilities on the Balance 
sheet. 
  
Pike 
  
The acquisition of Pike was subject to the approval of the PAPUC. At its public meeting held on 
August 11, 2016, the PAPUC approved the Recommended Decision of the Administrative Law Judge, 
dated June 30, 2016, which approved the Joint Petition for Full Settlement of the Joint Application of 
Pike, O&R and the Company, and the Pennsylvania Office of Consumer Advocate and the 
Pennsylvania Officer of Small Business Advocate (the “Settlement”). The Settlement required Pike and 
the Holding Company to take a variety of actions including, among a series of other matters, hiring a 
general manager and other staffing of Pike, which had no employees when owned by O&R, and not 
filing for a rate increase prior to March 1, 2018. The general manager and several staff members were 
hired in 2017 and 2018. 
The PAPUC issued an order in Case M-2018-2641242 that require the Company to return to customers 
the difference between the federal income tax allowance in base rates and the new statutory rate of 
21%. Pike’s electric customers will receive a refund of $73,923 or decrease of 0.67% on their overall 
bill effective October 1, 2018. No refunds were ordered for Pike’s gas operation because amounts were 
not material. The impact of the change in the tax act on deferred regulatory balances will be deferred 
until the Company’s next base rate case. The company has recorded those amounts as a Regulatory 
Liabilities on the Balance sheet. 
  
Leatherstocking Gas 
  
On February 20, 2015, Leatherstocking Gas, pursuant to Section 68 of the PSL, filed with the NYPSC 
for a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity and for approval of, and permission to exercise, 
franchises previously granted in the Town of Windsor (Case 15-G-0098) and Village of Windsor (Case 
15-G-0099). The Commission review of the applications is pending. 
  
On February 27, 2015, Leatherstocking Gas, pursuant to Public Service Law Section 69, filed with the 
NYPSC for authority to issue long term indebtedness in the principal amount of $2,750,000 for the 
purpose of financing new construction in the Town and Village of Windsor. The Commission review 
of the application is pending. 
  
The PAPUC issued an order in Case M-2018-2641242 that require the Company to return to customers 
the difference between the federal income tax allowance in base rates and the new statuary rate of 21%. 
No refunds were ordered for Leatherstocking Gas operation since the Company has experienced 
federal income tax losses since 2012. 
  
  
Critical Accounting Policies  
Our significant accounting policies are described in the notes to the accompanying Consolidated 
Financial Statements of this Form 10-K. The application of generally accepted accounting principles 
involves certain assumptions, judgments and estimates that affect reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses. Thus, the application of these principles can result in varying results 
from company to company. The principles and policies that most significantly impact us are discussed 
below.  
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Accounting for Utility Revenue and Cost of Gas Recognition  
Corning Gas records revenues from residential and commercial customers based on meters read on a 
cycle basis throughout each month, while certain large industrial and utility customers’ meters are read 
at the end of each month. Corning Gas does not accrue revenue for gas delivered but not yet billed, as 
the NYPSC requires that such accounting be adopted during a rate proceeding, which we have not 
done. Currently Corning Gas does not anticipate adopting unbilled revenue recognition nor does it 
believe it would have a material impact on financial results. Our tariffs contain mechanisms that 
provide for the recovery of the cost of gas applicable to firm customers, which includes estimates. 
Under these mechanisms, we periodically adjust rates to reflect increases and decreases in the cost of 
gas and electricity. Annually, we reconcile the difference between the total gas costs collected from 
customers and the cost of gas. We defer any excess or deficiency and subsequently either recover it 
from, or refund it to, customers over the following twelve-month period for gas. Quarterly, we 
reconcile the difference between electric costs collected from customers and the cost of electricity. The 
default service charges for electricity are adjusted every quarter. To the extent estimates are inaccurate, 
a regulatory asset on the balance sheet is increased or decreased. Leatherstocking Gas reads all meters 
at the end of the month and therefore has no unbilled. Pike reads all meters at the end of the month and 
therefore no longer has unbilled revenue. 
Accounting for Regulated Operations - Regulatory Assets and Liabilities  
Corning Gas is subject to regulation by NYPSC and Pike is subject to regulation by the PAPUC. We 
record the results of our regulated activities in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB) ASC No. 980, which results in differences in the application of generally, accepted accounting 
principles between regulated and non-regulated businesses. FASB ASC No. 980 requires the recording 
of regulatory assets and liabilities for certain transactions that would have been treated as revenue and 
expense in non-regulated businesses. In certain circumstances, FASB ASC No. 980 allows entities 
whose rates are determined by third-party regulators to defer costs as "regulatory" assets in the balance 
sheet to the extent that the entity expects to recover these costs in future rates. Management believes 
that currently available facts support the continued application of FASB ASC No. 980 and that all 
regulatory assets and liabilities are recoverable or refundable through the regulatory environment. 
Accounting for Income Taxes 
  
The Holding Company uses the asset and liability method to establish deferred tax assets and liabilities 
for the temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of the Holding 
Company’s assets and liabilities at enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when such amounts are 
realized or settled. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities will be adjusted for the effects of enacted 
changes in tax laws and rates. 
  
Accounting for the Joint Ventures 
  
The investment and equity in Leatherstocking Gas and Leatherstocking Pipeline (collectively, “Joint 
Ventures”) has been recognized in the consolidated financial statements. The Holding Company has 
accounted for its equity investment using the equity method of accounting based on the guidelines 
established in FASB ASC 323. In applying the guidance of FASB ASC 323, the Holding Company 
recognized the investment in the Joint Ventures as an asset at cost. The investment will fluctuate in 
future periods based on the Holding Company’s allocable share of earnings or losses from the Joint 
Ventures which is recognized through earnings. 
  
Pension and Post-Retirement Benefits 
  
The amounts reported in our financial statements related to pension and other post-retirement benefits 
are determined on an actuarial basis, which requires the use of many assumptions in the calculation of 
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such amounts. These assumptions include the discount rate, the expected return on plan assets, the rate 
of compensation increase and, for other post-retirement benefits, the expected annual rate of increase in 
per capita cost of covered medical and prescription benefits. Changes in actuarial assumptions and 
actuarial experience could have a material impact on the amount of our pension and post-retirement 
benefit costs and funding requirements. In 2016, the mortality assumption was changed to the sex-
distinct RP-2014 Mortality Tables with improvements projected using Scale MP-2016 on a fully 
generational basis. The increase in discount rate from 4.49% to 4.89% as of September 2018 decreased 
the benefit obligation. The net effect of changes to the assumptions and discount rate is a decrease of 
approximately $1.3 million to the pension benefit obligation. However, we expect to recover 
substantially all our net periodic pension and other post-retirement benefit costs attributed to 
employees in accordance with NYPSC authorization. For financial reporting purposes, the difference 
between the amounts of such costs as determined under applicable accounting principles is recorded as 
either a regulatory asset or liability. 

Preferred Stock and Temporary Equity 

The Holding Company classifies conditionally redeemable convertible preferred shares, which includes 
preferred shares subject to redemption upon the occurrence of uncertain events not solely within 
control of the Holding Company, as temporary equity in the mezzanine section of the consolidated 
balance sheet, in accordance with the guidance enumerated in FASB ASC No. 480 "Distinguishing 
Liabilities from Equity". The Company also analyzes the embedded conversion feature for bifurcation, 
based on whether the host instrument has more equity-like or debt-like characteristics. Dividends are 
recorded as a reduction to retained earnings and issuance costs reduce the initial proceeds and are then 
accreted over the life of the instrument to the redemption amount. 

The Holding Company records mandatorily redeemable stock as a liability in accordance with FASB 
ASC No. 480. Dividends are recorded as interest expense and issuance costs are treated the same way 
as debt issuance costs. 

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This report contains statements which, to the extent they are not recitations of historical facts, 
constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Securities Litigation Reform Act of 
1995 (“Reform Act”). The words "estimate", "project", "anticipate", "expect", "intend", "believe", 
"could" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. All such forward-
looking statements are intended to be subject to the safe harbor protection provided by the Reform Act. 
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are based on 
reasonable assumptions, we can give no assurance that our expectations will be achieved. As forward 
looking statements, these statements involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause 
actual results to differ materially from the expected results. Accordingly, actual results may differ 
materially from those expressed in any forward looking statements. Factors that could cause results to 
differ materially from our management's expectations include, but are not limited to, those listed under 
Item 1A - "Risk Factors" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 
2018, in addition to: 

*  the effect of any interruption in our supply of natural gas or electricity or a substantial increase in 
    the price of natural gas or electricity,
*  our ability to successfully negotiate new supply agreements for natural gas as they expire, on terms 
    favorable to us, or at all,
*  the effect on our operations of any action by the NYPSC or PAPUC,
*  the effect of any litigation,
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Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we undertake no obligation to 
update any forward-looking statement in light of new information or future events. 

ITEM 8 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

The following financial statements are filed with this Form 10-K: 

Report of Freed Maxick CPAs, P.C., Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Consolidated Financial Statements: 

 Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2018 and 2017 

 Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 

       Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 

 Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 

 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

ITEM 9 - CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING 
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

None 

ITEM 9A - CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

As of September 30, 2018, the Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s chief 
executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of 
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Based upon the Company’s evaluation, the Company’s chief 

* the effect on our operations of unexpected changes in any other applicable legal or regulatory 
   requirements,
* the amount of natural gas produced and directed through our pipeline by producers,
* our ability to obtain additional equity or debt financing to fund our capital expenditure plans and for 
   general corporate purposes,
* our successful completion of various capital projects and the use of pipeline, compressor stations and 
   storage by customers and counterparties at levels consistent with our expectations,
* our ability to retain the services of our senior executives and other key employees, 
* our vulnerability to adverse general economic and industry conditions generally and particularly the 
   effect of those conditions on our major customers,
* the effect of any events in our transportation and delivery facilities, and
* competition to our gas supply and transportation business from other pipelines.
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executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and 
procedures are effective as of September 30, 2018. 

Management’s Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal 
controls over financial reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). 
The Company’s internal controls over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements. Our internal controls over financial reporting is supported by appropriate reviews by 
management, written policies and guidelines, careful selection and training of qualified personnel, and 
a written Code of Conduct adopted by our Company’s Board of Directors, applicable to all Company 
Directors and all officers and employees of our Company. 

The Audit Committee of our Company’s Board of Directors meets with the independent public 
accountants and management periodically to discuss internal controls over financial reporting and 
auditing and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee reviews with the independent public 
accountants the scope and results of the audit effort. The Audit Committee’s Report will be reported in 
the Proxy Statement issued in connection with the Company’s 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. 

The Company’s management, including the Company’s chief executive officer and chief financial 
officer, assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting as of 
September 30, 2018. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework from 2013. Based upon that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial 
officer concluded that our internal controls over financial reporting was effective as of September 30, 
2018. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the 
evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15 that was conducted 
during the last fiscal quarter for the Company that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to 
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

ITEM 9B - OTHER INFORMATION 

None 
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PART III 
  
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
  
The information required by Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s definitive 
Proxy Statement relating to its 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the "Proxy Statement"), under 
the captions "Board of Directors," "Executive Officers," "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership 
Reporting Compliance" and "Code of Business Conduct and Ethics" or an amendment to this Annual 
Report in Form 10-K. The Proxy Statement, or an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
containing the required information, will be filed with the SEC prior to January 28, 2019. 
  
Based solely upon a review of Section 16(a) reports furnished to the Company pursuant to Rule 16a-3 
under the Exchange Act, the Company believes that all such forms required to be filed pursuant to 
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act were timely filed, as necessary, by the officers, directors and 
security holders required to file such forms. 
  
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
  
The information required by Item 11 will be contained under the caption "Executive Compensation” in 
the Proxy Statement and incorporated herein by reference or an amendment to this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. The Proxy Statement, or an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K containing 
the required information, will be filed with the SEC prior to January 28, 2019. 

  
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND 
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
  
The information required with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners will be set 
forth under the caption "Principal Stockholders" and "Equity Compensation Plan Information at 
September 30, 2019" in the Proxy Statement and incorporated herein by reference or an amendment to 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Proxy Statement, or an amendment to this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K containing the required information, will be filed with the SEC prior to January 28, 2019. 
  
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR 
INDEPENDENCE 
  
The information required by Item 13 will be contained under the caption "Certain Relationships and 
Related Transactions" and "Director Independence" in the Proxy Statement and incorporated herein by 
reference or an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Proxy Statement, or an 
amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K containing the required information, will be filed with 
the SEC prior to January 28, 2019. 
   
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 

The information required by Item 14 will be contained under the caption "Audit Committee Report - 
Principal Accounting Fees and Services" in the Proxy Statement and incorporated herein by reference 
or an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Proxy Statement, or an amendment to this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K containing the required information, will be filed with the SEC prior to 
January 28, 2019. 
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PART IV 
  
ITEM 15 - EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a) Financial Statement Schedules (see Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data) 
(b) Exhibits 

      
Exhibits incorporated by reference for filings made before January 1, 1995 may be found in the Company's 
Commission File 0-643 

      

  
Exhibit 
No. 

Description 

  
3.1 The Holding Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, (included as Exhibit B to the 

Proxy Statement/Prospectus forming portion of the Form S-4) 

  

3.2  Second Amended and Restated By-laws of Corning Natural Gas Holding Corporation, 
effective February 6, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 6, 2018) 

  

3.3  Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation with respect to the 
number of shares of common stock and preferred stock filed with the Department of 
State of the State of New York on May 1, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 1, 2018) 

  

4.4* Corning Natural Gas Holding Corporation 2018 Employee Long-Term Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to Appendix 1 of the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement 
on Schedule 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 22, 
2018) 

  

10.1* Employment Agreement dated November 30, 2006 between Michael German and the 
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K dated November 30, 2006) 

   

  

10.14* Settlement and Release Agreement between the Company and Thomas K. Barry 
dated December 30, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 of the 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-182386), originally filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 28, 2012) 

  

10.16 Operating Agreement of the Leatherstocking Gas Company, LLC (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.32 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 
(No. 333-182386), originally filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
June 28, 2012) 

  

10.21* Form of Restricted Stock Agreement – Officers under the Corning Natural Gas 
Corporation’s Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 11, 
2012) 

  

10.2* Amended and Restated Severance Agreement effective August 18, 2006 
between the Company and Kenneth J. Robinson (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.18 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 
14, 2006) 

  

10.22* Form of Restricted Stock Agreement - Non-employee Directors under the Corning 
Natural Gas Corporation’s Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Plan (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated 
December 11, 2012) 

  
10.3* First Amendment to Employment Agreement between Michael I. German and 

the Company dated December 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
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10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 10-Q dated August 12, 2009) 

  

10.32 Stock Purchase Agreement between the Holding Company and Article 6 Marital 
Trust under the First Amended and Restated Jerry Zucker Revocable Trust Dated 
April 2, 2007, dated April 7, 2014  

  

10.33 Stock Purchase Agreement between the Holding Company and the Retirement Plan 
for the L.S. Starret Company with QCI Management, Inc., as Registered Investment 
Advisor dated April 14, 2014 

  
10.34 Stock Purchase Agreement between the Holding Company and DBH, LLC with QCI 

Asset Management, Inc., as Registered Investment Advisor dated April 14, 2014 

  

10.35 Stock Purchase Agreement between the Holding Company and Cold Spring 
Construction Profit Sharing Plan with QCI Asset Management, Inc., as Registered 
Investment Advisor dated April 14, 2014  

  

10.37 Stock Purchase Agreement between the Holding Company and Timothy E. Delaney 
with QCI Asset Management, Inc., as Registered Investment Advisor dated April 14, 
2014 

  
10.38 Stock Purchase Agreement between the Holding Company and Robert B. Johnston 

dated April 16, 2014 

  
10. 4 Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 

10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 10-Q dated August 12, 2009) 

  

10.48 Pledge and Security Agreement between Corning Natural Gas Holding Corporation 
and Mirabito Regulated Industries, LLC with Five Star Bank dated August 27, 2014 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the September 2014 8-K) 

  

10.49 Pledge and Security Agreement between Corning Natural Gas Holding Corporation 
and Mirabito Regulated Industries, LLC with Five Star Bank dated August 27, 2014 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the September 2014 8-K) 

  

10.61 Multiple Disbursement Term Note between the Gas Company and Manufacturers 
and Traders Trust Company, dated January 27, 2016 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 of January 2016 8-K) 

  

10.72 Loan Agreement between Leatherstocking Gas (Borrower) and Leatherstocking 
Pipeline (Guarantor) and Five Star Bank, dated July 11, 2016 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the June 2016 10-Q) 

  
10.73 General Security Agreement between Leatherstocking Gas and Five Star Bank dated 

July 11, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the June 2016 10-Q) 

  

10.74 General Security Agreement between Leatherstocking Pipeline and Five Star Bank 
dated July 11, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the June 2016 10-
Q) 

  

10.79 Continuing Guaranty, dated August 31, 2016, from Corning Natural Gas Holding 
Corporation to M&T Bank with respect to the obligations of Pike County Light & 
Power Company to M&T Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 on the 
September 2016 8-K) 

  

10.87 Credit Agreement, dated August 15, 2018, between Corning Natural Gas Company 
and M&T Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K dated August 15, 2018) 

  

10.88 Multiple Disbursement Term Note, dated August 15, 2018, from Corning Natural 
Gas Corporation to M&T Bank in the maximum principal amount of $3,600,000 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K dated August 15, 2018) 

  

10.89 General Security Agreement, dated August 15, 2018, from Corning Natural Gas 
Corporation to M&T Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 15, 2018) 

  10.90 Replacement Credit Agreement, dated May 23, 2018, between Pike Light & Power 
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Company and M&T Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 23, 2018) 

  

10.91 Replacement Term Note, dated May 23, 2018, from Pike Light & Power Company 
to M&T Bank in the initial principal amount of $11,200,000 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 
23, 2018) 

  

10.92 Continuing Guaranty, dated May 23, 2018, between Pike Light & Power Company 
and M&T Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K dated May 23, 2018) 

  

10.93 General Security Agreement, dated May 23, 2018, between Pike Light & Power 
Company and M&T Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 23, 2018) 

  21** Subsidiary of Company 
  23.1** Consent of Freed Maxick CPA's, P.C. 

  24 Power of Attorney 
  31.1** Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act - Michael I. German 
  31.2** Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act - Firouzeh Sarhangi 
  32.1*** Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
  
  

  
101*** The following materials from the Corning Natural Gas Corporation Annual Report on 

Form 10-K for the period 

  
  ended September 30, 2018, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting 

Language): 
    (i)   the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2018 and 2017 

  
  (ii)  the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for 

the years ended   
          September 30, 2018 and 2017 
    (iii) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the years ended 
          September 30, 2018 and 2017 

  
  (iv) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended 

September 30, 2018 and 2017 
    (v)  related notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
      
  * Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement 
  **   Filed herewith 
  ***  Furnished herewith 
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SIGNATURES  
  
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly 
authorized. 

  
 CORNING NATURAL GAS HOLDING CORPORATION 

  
Date: December 20, 2018 /s/ Michael I. German  

  Michael I. German 
  President and Chief Executive Officer 

  
  
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below 
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
  

Date: December 20, 2018 /s/ Firouzeh Sarhangi 
  Firouzeh Sarhangi, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer 
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 
    

Date: December 20, 2018 /s/ Michael I. German 
  Michael I. German, President and Chief Executive Officer and Director 
  (Principal Executive Officer) 
    

Date: December 20, 2018 * 
  Henry B. Cook, Chairman of the Board of Directors 
    

Date: December 20, 2018 * 
  Ted W. Gibson, Director 
    

Date: December 20, 2018 * 
  Robert B. Johnston, Director 

    
Date: December 20, 2018 * 

  Joseph P. Mirabito, Director 
    

Date: December 20, 2018 * 
  William Mirabito, Director 
    

Date: December 20, 2018 * 
  George J. Welch, Director 
    

Date: December 20, 2018 * 
  John B. Williamson III, Director 

  
  
*By: /s/ [Attorney-in-fact] 
[Attorney-in-fact] 
Attorney-in-fact 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
  
  
Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Corning Natural Gas Holding Corporation 
Corning, New York 
  
  
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Corning Natural Gas Holding Corporation 
and subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) as of September 30, 2018 and 2017, and the related 
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the fiscal 
years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial 
statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as of September 30, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and 
its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 
  
Basis for Opinion 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting 
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and 
the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 
  
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we 
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are 
required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
  
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such 
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
  
/s/ Freed Maxick CPAs, P.C. 
  
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013. 
  
Rochester, New York 
December 21, 2018 
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CORNING NATURAL GAS HOLDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES   
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30,                 
                  
                  

                  
Assets     2018       2017   

                  
Plant:                 
  Utility property, plant and equipment   

 
$114,559,199     

 
$106,976,488   

  Less: accumulated depreciation     (26,966,064 )     (24,840,560 ) 
     Total plant, net      87,593,135       82,135,928   

                  
Investments:                 
  Marketable securities available-for-sale at fair value     2,193,578       2,212,548   
Investment in joint ventures     2,740,575       2,707,406   

      4,934,153       4,919,954   
Current assets:                 
  Cash and cash equivalents     219,962       442,930   
  Customer accounts receivable (net of allowance for                 
    uncollectible accounts of $228,666 and $50,311, 

respectively)     3,350,700       2,729,875   
Other accounts receivable     385,987       583,176   

  Related party receivables     208,876       90,533   
  Gas stored underground, at average cost     1,620,916       1,382,196   
  Materials and supplies inventories     1,818,974       1,336,857   
  Prepaid expenses     1,468,030       1,449,588   
     Total current assets      9,073,445       8,015,155   

                  
Regulatory and other assets:                 
  Regulatory assets:                 
     Unrecovered electric and gas costs     1,236,124       1,106,277   
     Deferred regulatory costs     4,279,839       4,166,223   
     Deferred pension     4,043,072       5,774,901   
  Other     583,437       604,816   
     Total regulatory and other assets      10,142,472       11,652,217   

                  
     Total assets    

 
$111,743,205     

 
$106,723,254   

   
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CORNING NATURAL GAS HOLDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30,

2018 2017
Liabilities and capitalization

Long-term debt, less current installments $36,975,484 $33,871,946
Less: debt issuance costs (338,903) (188,039 )

Total long-term debt 36,636,581 33,683,907

Redeemable preferred stock - Series A 5,166,082 5,158,870
(Authorized 255,500 shares. Issued and outstanding:
210,600 shares at September 30, 2018 and 210,600 shares at 
September 30, 2017, 
less debt issuance costs of $98,918 and $112,880, 
respectively) 

Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt 3,793,998 4,201,588
Borrowings under lines-of-credit and short-term debt 6,662,357 5,569,418
Accounts payable 3,247,376 2,140,058
Accrued expenses 410,237 490,292
Customer deposits and accrued interest 1,227,398 1,277,528
Dividends declared 483,806 465,056
Current income taxes — 210,438

Total current liabilities 15,825,172 14,354,378

Deferred credits and other liabilities:
Deferred income taxes 4,896,771 6,785,440
Regulatory liabilities 3,777,495 —
Deferred compensation 1,412,345 1,443,729
Pension costs and post-retirement benefits 6,016,240 7,528,430
Other 219,948 488,640

Total deferred credits and other liabilities 16,322,799 16,246,239

Commitments and contingencies (see Note 14) — —

Temporary equity:
Redeemable convertible preferred stock - Series B
(Authorized 244,500 shares. Issued and outstanding:
244,263 shares at September 30, 2018 and 2017) 4,951,847 4,936,801

Common stockholders' equity:
Common stock ($.01 par value per share 30,218 29,948
($.01 par value per share. Authorized 4,500,000 shares.

Issued and outstanding: 
3,021,851 shares at September 30, 2018 and 2,994,797 at
September 30, 2017) 
Additional paid-in capital 27,320,162 27,084,738
Retained earnings 5,399,751 5,170,855
Accumulated other comprehensive income 90,593 57,518

Total common stockholders' equity 32,840,724 32,343,059

Total liabilities and capitalization $111,743,205 $106,723,254

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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2018  2017  
Net income  $2,144,268  $2,100,628  
Other comprehensive income (loss): 

Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities available for sale 
net of tax of $1,076 and ($25,099), respectively 33,075  (37,648 ) 

Total comprehensive income  $2,177,343  $2,062,980  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

  
  

2018 2017
Utility operating revenues:
Gas operating revenues $25,676,780 $21,479,380
Electric operating revenues 8,600,381 8,562,787
Total utility operating revenues 34,277,161 30,042,167

7,048,801 5,348,184
Cost of sales: 
  Gas purchased 
  Electricity purchased 2,659,264 2,534,197
Total cost of sales 9,708,065 7,882,381

Gross margin 24,569,096 22,159,786

12,390,482 12,357,913
3,590,036 2,628,509
2,375,500 2,143,084

Costs and expense:
  Operating and maintenance expense    
  Taxes other than income taxes 
  Depreciation
  Other deductions, net 285,784 489,059
Total costs and expenses 18,641,802 17,618,565

Utility operating income 5,927,294 4,541,221

(2,132,511 ) (1,895,170 )
35,849 24,372
80,174 212,875

(131,831 ) (131,175 )

Other income and (expense):  
  Interest expense
  Other income
  Investment income
  Loss from joint ventures 
  Rental income 48,552 48,552

Income from utility operations before income taxes 3,827,527 2,800,675

Income tax expense:
Income tax expense, current 42,372 101,500
Income tax expense, deferred 1,640,887 598,547

Total income tax expense (1,683,259 ) (700,047 )

Net income 2,144,268 2,100,628
Less Series B Preferred Stock Dividends 244,263 244,019
Net income attributable to common stockholders 1,900,005 1,856,609

Weighted average earnings per share-                 
basic $0.63 $0.62
diluted $0.63 $0.62

Average shares outstanding - basic 3,010,465 2,986,153
Average shares outstanding - diluted 3,010,465 2,986,153

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended September 30,
CORNING NATURAL GAS HOLDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CORNING NATURAL GAS HOLDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended September 30,
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CORNING NATURAL GAS HOLDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 

Number 
of       Common  

Additional 
 Paid in       Retained    

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive  
Shares       Stock  Capital       Earnings  Income  Total  

Balances at 
September 30, 2016     2,974,606     

 
$29,746     

 
$26,763,747     

 
$4,901,774  $95,166     $ 31,790,433  

Issuance of common 
stock 20,191  202  320,991  —  —  321,193  
Dividends declared 
on common —  —  —         (1,587,284 )  —  (1,587,284 ) 
Dividends declared 
on Series B Preferred 
Stock —  —  —  (244,263 )  —  (244,263 ) 

Comprehensive 
income: 
Change in unrealized 
gain on securities 
available for sale, net 
of income taxes —  —  —         —    (37,648 )  (37,648 ) 
Net income —  —  —         2,100,628  —  2,100,628  
Balances at 
September 30, 2017     2,994,797     

 
$29,948     

 
$27,084,738     

 
$5,170,855  $57,518     

 
$32,343,059  

Issuance of common 
stock 27,054  270  388,588  —  —  388,858  
Dividends declared 
on common —  —  —         (1,671,109 )  —  (1,671,109 ) 
Dividends declared 
on Series B Preferred 
Stock —  —  —  (244,263 )  —  (244,263 ) 
Stock issuance costs  —  —  (153,164 )  —  —  (153,164 ) 

Comprehensive 
income: 
Change in unrealized 
gain on securities 
available for sale, net 
of income taxes —  —  —         —    33,075  33,075  
Net income —  —  —         2,144,268  —  2,144,268  
Balances at 
September 30, 2018   3,021,851  $30,218  $27,320,162  $5,399,751  $90,593  $32,840,724  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CORNING NATURAL GAS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30,

2018 2017
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $2,144,268 $2,100,628
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

    provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 2,375,500 2,143,084
Amortization of debt issuance cost 80,258 107,044
Non-cash pension expenses 933,452 838,932
Regulatory asset amortizations 428,925 818,152
Stock issued for services 223,783 149,510
Gain on sale of marketable securities (68,062 ) (179,496 )
Deferred income taxes 1,640,887 598,547
Bad debt expense 267,189 53,357
Loss from joint ventures 131,831 131,175

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in:

Accounts receivable (690,825 ) 567,531
Gas stored underground (238,720 ) (479,189 )
Materials and supplies inventories (482,117 ) 72,350
Prepaid expenses 23,930 (153,837 )
Unrecovered gas and electric costs (129,847 ) (328,968 )
Deferred regulatory costs (578,767 ) (129,694 )
Other 21,379 —

  Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable 1,107,318 (1,238,965 )
Accrued expenses (335,410 ) (161,452 )
Customer deposits and accrued interest (50,130 ) (377,156 )
Deferred compensation (31,384 ) (10,053 )
Deferred pension costs & post-retirement benefits (713,813 ) (1,353,300 )
Other liabilities and deferred credits (173,661 ) (216,313 )

           Net cash provided by operating activities 5,885,984 2,951,887

Cash flows from investing activities:
Sale of securities net 120,107 62,550
Amount (paid to) received from related parties (115,798 ) 81,943
Investment in joint ventures (165,000 ) (255,000 )
Acquisition of Pike County Light & Power Company, net

of cash acquired —  724,544  
Capital expenditures (7,832,707 ) (6,447,279 )

            Net cash used in investing activities (7,993,398 ) (5,833,242 )

Cash flows from financing activities:
  Net proceeds under lines-of-credit 1,092,939 387,919
  Debt issuance costs paid (174,475 ) (80,000 )

Cash received from sale of Series A preferred stock,
net of issuance costs — 2,639,175

  Dividends paid (1,729,966 ) (1,651,374 )
  Proceeds under long-term debt 43,034,390 4,200,000
  Repayment of long-term debt (40,338,442 ) (5,980,403 )
            Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,884,446 (484,683 )
            Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (222,968 ) (3,366,038 )
            Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 442,930 3,808,968
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $219,962 $442,930

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for: 
Interest $1,694,384 $991,863
Income taxes 42,372 200,085

Non-cash financing activities:
Dividends paid with shares
Number of shares issued as dividends 9,579 8,716

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

. 

$165,075 $171,693
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CORNING NATURAL GAS HOLDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
  
Corning Natural Gas Holding Corporation’s (the “Holding Company”) primary business, through its 
subsidiaries, Corning Natural Gas Corporation (“Corning Gas” or “Gas Company”) and Pike County 
Light & Power Company (“Pike”), is natural gas and electric distribution. Corning Gas provides gas on 
a commodity and transportation basis to its customers in the Southern Tier of New York State. Pike 
provides electric and gas service to customers in Pike County, Pennsylvania. As used in these notes, 
the term “the Company” refers to the consolidated operations of the Holding Company, the Gas 
Company and its dormant subsidiary Corning Natural Gas Appliance Corporation (the “Appliance 
Company’), and Pike. The Company follows the Uniform System of Accounts prescribed by the Public 
Service Commission of the State of New York (NYPSC) which has jurisdiction over and sets rates for 
New York State gas distribution companies and the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
(“PAPUC”) which has jurisdiction over and sets rates for Pennsylvania gas and electric distribution 
companies. The Company’s regulated operations meet the criteria to and, accordingly, follow the 
accounting and reporting of the Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) ASC No. 980 
“Regulated Operations”. The Company’s consolidated financial statements contain the use of estimates 
and assumptions for reporting certain assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and actual results could 
differ from the estimates. The more significant accounting policies of the Company are summarized 
below. 
  
(a) Principles of Consolidation and Presentation  
  
The consolidated financial statements include the Holding Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, 
Corning Gas, Pike and the Appliance Company. All intercompany accounts and balances have been 
eliminated. 
  
It is the Company’s policy to reclassify amounts in the prior year financial statements to conform to the 
current year presentation. 
(b) Property, Plant and Equipment  
Utility property, plant and equipment are stated at the historical cost of construction or acquisition. 
These costs include payroll, fringe benefits, materials and supplies and transportation costs. The 
Company charges normal repairs to maintenance expense. 
(c) Depreciation  
  
The Company provides for depreciation for accounting purposes using a straight-line method based on 
the estimated economic lives of property and equipment as determined by the current rate plan based 
on the latest depreciation study. The depreciation rate used for Corning Gas utility plant, expressed as 
an annual percentage of depreciable property, was 2.0% and 2.0% for of the years ended September 30, 
2018 and 2017, respectively. The NYPSC allows the Gas Company recovery in revenues to offset costs 
of building certain projects. At the time utility properties are retired, costs of removal less any salvage 
are charged to accumulated depreciation. 
  
The depreciation rate used for Pike, expressed as an annual percentage of depreciable property, was 
2.1% and 2.1% for of the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Pike also charges 
cost of removal less any salvage to accumulated depreciation. 
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(d) Accounting for Impairment   
FASB ASC No. 360-10-15, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” 
establishes accounting standards to account for the impairment of long-lived assets, and certain 
identifiable intangibles. Under FASB ASC No. 360-10-15, the Company reviews assets for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. FASB ASC No. 360-10-15 also requires that a rate regulated enterprise recognize an 
impairment when regulatory assets are no longer probable of recovery. No impairment losses were 
incurred for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. 
  
(e) Marketable Securities 
  
Marketable securities, which are intended to fund the Gas Company’s deferred compensation plan 
obligations, are classified as available for sale. Such securities are reported at fair value based on 
quoted market prices, with unrealized gains and losses, net of the related income tax effect, excluded 
from income, and reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in 
stockholders’ equity until realized. The cost of securities sold was determined using the specific 
identification method. For all investments in the unrealized loss position, none have been in an 
unrealized loss position for more than 12 months. None are other than temporary impairments based on 
management’s analysis of available market research. In 2018 and 2017, the Gas Company sold equity 
securities for realized gains included in earnings of $68,062 and $179,496, respectively. 
  
(f) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
  
The Company has determined the fair value of debt and other financial instruments using a valuation 
hierarchy. The hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value, consists of three 
levels. Level 1 uses observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2 uses inputs other 
than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, which 
is defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, requires the Company to 
develop its own assumptions. The carrying amount of debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheets 
approximates fair value as a result of instruments bearing interest rates that approximate current market 
rates for similar instruments, and the carrying amounts for cash, accounts receivable and accounts 
payable approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. The assets used to fund the pension plan 
and marketable securities, which fund the Gas Company’s deferred compensation plan, are valued 
based on Level 1 inputs. 
  
The Company has determined the fair value of certain assets through application of FASB ASC 820 
“Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures”. 

  
Fair value of assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis at September 30, 2018 and 2017 are as 
follows: 
  
  

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using:                     

      Fair Value       

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets 

for Identical 
Assets/Liabilities 

(Level 1)       Level 2       Level 3   
September 30, 2018                                 
Available-for-sale securities   

 
$2,193,578     

 
$2,193,578     

 
$—       

 
$—     

                                  
September 30, 2017                                 
Available-for-sale securities   

 
$2,212,548     

 
$2,212,548     

 
$—       

 
$—     

  
  

 Financial assets and liabilities valued using level 1 inputs are based on unadjusted quoted market prices 
within active markets. 

  
The pension assets in Note 12 are valued using level 1 inputs. 
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(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents  
  
Cash and cash equivalents include time deposits, certificates of deposit, and all highly liquid debt 
instruments with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents at financial 
institutions may periodically exceed federally insured limits. 

  
(h) Accounts Receivable  
  
Accounts receivable are stated net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company estimates the 
allowance based on its analysis of specific balances, taking into consideration the age of past due 
accounts and relying on rules and guidelines established by the NYPSC and PAPUC regarding 
customer disconnects. Under the terms of the Transitional Service Agreement (“TSA”) signed as part 
of the Pike acquisition from Orange & Rockland Utilities, Inc. (“O&R”), O&R billed Pike customers 
for twelve months after closing. In September of 2017 the Gas Company took over the billing function. 
(i) Gas Stored Underground 

Gas stored underground is carried at an average unit cost method as prescribed by the NYPSC. Pike 
does not have any gas storage. 

(j) Materials and Supplies Inventories  
  
Materials and supplies inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, cost being determined on 
an average unit price basis. 

(k) Debt Issuance Costs  

Debt issuance costs are presented as a direct deduction from the associate debt. Costs associated with 
the issuance of debt by the Company are amortized over the lives of the related debt. 

(l) Regulatory Matters 

Certain costs of the Company are deferred and recognized as expenses when they are reflected in rates 
and recovered from customers as permitted by FASB ASC No. 980. These costs are shown as 
regulatory assets. Such costs arise from the traditional cost-of-service rate setting approach whereby all 
prudently incurred costs are generally recoverable through rates. Deferral of these costs is appropriate 
while the Company’s rates are regulated under a cost-of-service approach of the NYPSC and PAPUC 
for utilities (see Note 5 - Regulatory Matters). 
As regulated utilities, the Gas Company and Pike defer certain costs for future recovery. In a purely 
competitive environment, such costs might have been currently expensed. Accordingly, if the 
Company’s rate settings were changed from a cost-of-service approach and the Gas Company and Pike 
were no longer allowed to defer these costs under FASB ASC No. 980, certain of these assets might 
not be fully recoverable. However, the Company cannot predict the impact, if any, of competition and 
continues to operate in a cost-of-service based regulatory environment. Accordingly, the Company 
believes that accounting under FASB ASC No. 980 is appropriate. 
  
(m) Revenue Recognition 

  
The Gas Company records revenues from residential and commercial customers based on meters read 
on a cyclical basis throughout each month, while certain large industrial and utility customers’ meters 
are read at the end of each month. Several meters are read at the end of each month to calculate local 
production revenues. The Gas Company does not accrue revenue for gas delivered but not yet billed, as 
the NYPSC requires that such accounting must be adopted during a rate proceeding which the Gas 
Company has not done. The Gas Company, as part of its currently effective rate plan, has a weather 
normalization clause as protection against severe weather fluctuations. This affects space heating 
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customers and is activated when degree days are 2.2% greater or less than the 30-year average. As a 
result, the effect on revenue fluctuations of weather related gas sales is somewhat moderated. 
Pike recognizes revenues for electric and gas service on a monthly billing cycle basis. Pike does accrue 
for gas and electricity delivered. Pike does not have a weather normalization clause as protection 
against severe weather. 
  
In addition to weather normalization, the Gas Company has implemented a revenue decoupling 
mechanism (RDM). The RDM reconciles actual delivery service revenues to allowed delivery service 
revenues (which are based on the annual customer and volume forecasts in the last rate case) for certain 
residential customers. The Gas Company will refund or surcharge customers for differences between 
actual and allowed revenues. The shortfall or excess after the annual reconciliation will be surcharged 
or refunded to customers over a twelve-month period starting September 1st each year. Pike does not 
have a revenue decoupling mechanism as part of their rate structure. 
  
(n) Cost of Sales 
  
Cost of sales consists only of the costs of purchasing gas and electricity sold during the period 
presented. 
  
Gas purchases are recorded on readings of suppliers’ meters as of the end of each month. The Gas 
Company’s and Pike’s rate tariffs include a Gas Adjustment Clause (“GAC”) or Gas Rate Clause 
(“GRC”) which adjusts rates to reflect changes in gas costs from levels established in the rate setting 
process. In order to match such costs and revenue, the NYPSC and PAPUC have provided for an 
annual reconciliation of recoverable GAC and GRC costs with applicable revenue billed. Any excess 
or deficiency in GAC and GRC revenue billed is deferred and the balance at the reconciliation date is 
either refunded to or recovered from customers over a subsequent twelve-month period. 
  
As part of its rate structure for electric sales, Pike is required to file quarterly a Statement of Default 
Services Charges. The Default Service Charges are separated into two components: (1) the Market 
Price of Electric Supply which is based on the forecast of electric supply costs applied to service 
classification-specific factors to reflect each service classification’s load characteristics, forecast sales 
and applicable losses, and (2) an Electric Supply Adjustment Charge to reconcile differences between 
default service revenues and costs. The new electric rates go into effect on the first day of the month 
after the filing is accepted. 
  
(o) Operating and Maintenance Expense 
  
Operating and maintenance expense includes all personnel, administrative, and marketing expenses of 
the Company, as well as expenses incurred in the maintenance of the Company’s utility property, plant 
and equipment. 
  
(p) Federal Income Tax  

  
The Company uses the asset and liability method to establish deferred tax assets and liabilities for the 
temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of the Holding 
Company’s assets and liabilities at enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when such amounts are 
realized or settled. In addition, such deferred tax assets and liabilities will be adjusted for the effects of 
enacted changes in tax laws and rates. 
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(q) Revenue Taxes 
  
The Gas Company collects state revenue taxes on residential delivery rates. The amount included in 
Revenue and Taxes other than Federal Income Taxes was $287,109 and $236,697 in 2018 and 2017, 
respectively. Pike collects state taxes on total revenue. The amounts collected were $514,177 and 
$542,277 in 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
(r) Stock Based Compensation 

The Holding Company accounts for stock based awards in accordance with FASB ASC No. 718. The 
Holding Company awards restricted shares as compensation to our directors.  The shares awarded 
become unrestricted upon a director leaving the board.  Directors who also serve as officers of Corning 
Gas are not compensated for their service as directors. Since these shares are restricted, in recording 
compensation expense, the expense incurred is recorded at 25% less than the closing price of the stock 
on the day the stock was awarded. During the years ending September 30, 2018 and 2017 the company 
issued 17,475 and 11,475 shares, respectively, as stock based compensation and recorded related 
expense of $223,783 and $149,510, respectively. 
  
(s) Earnings Per Share 

  
Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing income available for common stock (net income 
less dividends declared on Series B Preferred Stock) by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilution that could 
occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common 
stock. 
  
For the fiscal years 2018 and 2017, the impact of Preferred B shares on earnings per share was 
determined to be anti-dilutive. The net income and average shares outstanding used to compute basic 
and diluted earnings per share for the years ended September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017 are as 
follows: 

  
      2018       2017   
Net income attributable to common stockholders   

 
$1,900,005     

 
$1,856,609   

Add Preferred B Dividends     244,263       244,019   
Net income   

 
$2,144,268     

 
$2,100,628   

                  
Average shares outstanding - basic     3,010,465       2,986,153   

Effect of dilutive stock options     —         —     
Effect of Preferred B Shares     —         —     

Average shares outstanding - diluted     3,010,465       2,986,153   
      

(t) 311 Transportation Agreement /Compressor Station 
  
On January 11, 2010, the Gas Company entered into a contract (“311 Transportation Agreement”) with 
a local gas producer that provided for the building of a compressor station as well as the transfer of a 
6” pipeline owned by the gas producer to the Company for nominal consideration. The contract also 
sets forth the terms, rates and condition of the transport of the local producer gas to the interstate 
pipeline system. On May 21, 2010, the 311 Transportation Agreement was revised to reflect a change 
in the projected gas delivery schedule and delivery volumes. The previously agreed to transportation 
rates did not change. The contract’s maximum daily delivery quantity remained the same. The schedule 
for attaining the maximum daily delivery quantity was altered to accommodate the project’s 
construction schedule. The Gas Company bought the $11 million compressor station and $2.1 million 
pipeline from the local producer for two dollars. The local producer had the right to repurchase these 
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facilities for two dollars in ten years. This transaction became effective on May 12, 2011, when the 
station began operations. Although the Gas Company has plant available for use that had an original 
cost of $13.1 million, only two dollars was recognized in accordance with the Uniform System of 
Accounts (313.2) which states that in the case of gas plant contributed to the utility, gas plant accounts 
shall be charged only with such expenses, if any, incurred by the utility. On May 23, 2018 the Gas 
Company modified its contract with the gas producer eliminating the producer’s right to repurchase the 
compressor station. 
  
(u) Collective Bargaining Agreement 
  
The Company had 63 employees as of September 30, 2018, and 61 as of September 30, 2017. Of this 
total, approximately one third are members of the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers 
Local 139 labor union working under an agreement effective until April 5, 2021. 
  
(v) Leatherstocking Companies 
  
The Holding Company has a 50% investment in Leatherstocking Gas Company, LLC 
(“Leatherstocking Gas”) and Leatherstocking Pipeline Company, LLC (“Leatherstocking Pipeline”). 
The investment and equity in both companies (collectively, “Joint Ventures”) has been recognized in 
the consolidated financial statements. The Holding Company has accounted for its equity investment 
using the equity method of accounting based on the guidelines established in FASB ASC No. 323. In 
applying the guidance of FASB ASC 323, the Holding Company recognized the investment in the Joint 
Ventures as an asset at cost. The investment will fluctuate in future periods based on the Holding 
Company’s allocable share of earnings or losses from the Joint Ventures which is recognized through 
earnings. 

   
(w) Preferred Stock and Temporary Equity 

  
The Holding Company classifies conditionally redeemable convertible preferred shares, which includes 
preferred shares subject to redemption upon the occurrence of uncertain events not solely within 
control of the Holding Company, as temporary equity in the mezzanine section of the consolidated 
balance sheet, in accordance with the guidance enumerated in FASB ASC No. 480-10 "Distinguishing 
Liabilities from Equity". The Company also analyzes the embedded conversion feature for bifurcation, 
based on whether the host instrument has more equity-like or debt-like characteristics. Dividends are 
recorded as a reduction to retained earnings and issuance costs reduce the initial proceeds and are then 
accreted over the life of the instrument to the redemption amount. 
  
The Holding Company records mandatorily redeemable stock as a liability in accordance with FASB 
ASC No. 480. Dividends are recorded as interest expense and issuance costs are treated the same way 
as debt issuance costs. 

  
(x) Adoption of New Accounting Guidance  

  
In July 2015, the FASB issued new accounting guidance simplifying inventory measurement by 
requiring companies to value inventory at the lower of cost or net realizable value. This guidance is 
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016 and interim 
periods within those fiscal years. The adoption of this guidance, which occurred in the first quarter of 
our 2018 fiscal year, did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements. 
  
  
  

-41-



  
                

   
 

     
 

   
               

               
               

               
               

               
    

 
     

 
   

  

(y) New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted  
  

In May 2014, FASB issued new accounting guidance on revenue from contracts with customers. The 
new guidance requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled 
for the transfer of promised goods and services to customers. The updated guidance will replace most 
existing revenue recognition guidance in GAAP when it becomes effective. This guidance is effective 
for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017. We 
do not expect this to have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements but will require 
additional disclosures. 
  
In January 2016, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on the recognition and measurement of 
financial assets and financial liabilities. The new guidance requires realized gains and losses on 
marketable securities to be recorded through earnings rather than accumulated other comprehensive 
income. This guidance is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2017 and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early application is not permitted. 
The impact when adopted will be dependent on the amount of unrealized gains and losses on 
marketable securities we have in accumulated other comprehensive income at the time of adoption and 
subsequent changes in unrealized gains and losses in periods thereafter. 
  
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (ASC Topic 842), which requires 
lessees to recognize substantially all leases on-balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing 
arrangements. The new standard establishes a right of use ("ROU") model that requires a lessee to 
recognize a ROU asset and lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with a term longer than 12 
months. Leases will be classified as finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern and 
classification of expense recognition in the income statement. The new standard is effective for annual 
and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2018.  ASU 2016-02 requires entities to adopt a 
modified retrospective transition method for leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of 
the earliest comparative period presented in the consolidated financial statements.  The Company 
continues to evaluate the impact that adopting ASU 2016-02 will have on its consolidated financial 
statements, but does not believe it will have a material impact at this time. 
  
(2) Major Customers  
  
The Gas Company has three major customers, Corning Incorporated, New York State Electric & Gas, 
and Bath Electric, Gas & Water Systems. Although no customer represents at least 10% of our total 
revenue, the loss of any of these customers could have a significant impact on the Company’s financial 
results. 
   
(3) Utility Property, Plant and Equipment 
  
The following table summarizes fixed assets included in utility property, plant and equipment on the 
Holding Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at September 30, 2018 and 2017: 

2018 2017
Utility Plant $4,936,788 $4,369,936

Poles & Line 12,813,450 11,981,447
Pipeline 51,090,474 49,954,559
Structures 32,474,188 28,095,818
Land 1,787,034 1,786,319
Construction Work in Progress 3,187,796 3,494,649

All Other 8,269,469 7,293,760
$114,559,199 $106,976,488
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Useful life for the above assets range from 35 to 55 years for utility plant, 30 to 65 years for poles and 
line, 66 years for pipeline, from 45 to 47 years for structures, 50 to 65 years for land rights and 5 to 25 
years for all other and corporate fixed assets. Utility plant includes station equipment, services, meters, 
regulators including all costs to install those assets. Poles and line include poles, line and conductors. 
Total mains installed are represented in pipeline. Structures include both regulator station buildings and 
office and operations buildings. All other plant includes all general plant except for buildings and land 
and land rights. Accumulated depreciation as of September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $26,966,064 and 
$24,840,560 respectively. Depreciation expense for the years ended as of September 30, 2018 and 
2017 was $2,375,500 and $2,143,084 respectively. 
  
(4) Marketable Securities 
  
A summary of the marketable securities at September 30, 2018 and 2017 is as follows: 
  

      Cost Basis       
Unrealized 

Gain       
Unrealized 

Loss       
Market 

Value   
2018                                 
Cash and equivalents   

 
$158,210       —         —         158,210   

Metlife stock value     38,197       —         —         38,197   
Government and agency bonds     264,376       —         9,246       255,130   
Corporate bonds     193,526       —         3,716       189,810   
Mutual funds     22,359       —         292       22,067   
Corning Preferred A Stock     572,875       —         23,144       549,731   
Equity securities     813,215       167,218       —         980,433   
Total securities   

 
$2,062,758     

 
$167,218     

 
$36,398     

 
$2,193,578   

                                  
2017                                 
Cash and equivalents   

 
$262,150       —         —         262,150   

Metlife stock value     40,377       —         —         40,377   
Government and agency bonds     288,431       —         3,134       285,297   
Corporate bonds     194,597       —         3,681       190,916   
Mutual funds     24,382       678       —         25,060   
Corning Preferred A Stock     572,875       —         —         572,875   
Equity securities     733,068       102,805       —         835,873   
Total securities    $2,115,880      $103,483      $6,815      $2,212,548     
  
The government and agency bonds have contractual maturity dates between November 15, 2019 and 
June 30, 2025. The contractual maturity dates for the corporate bonds are from March 15, 2019 to 
April 27, 2026. 
(5) Regulatory Matters 

Below is a summary of the Gas Company’s deferred regulatory assets as of September 30, 2018 and 
2017: 
  

      2018       2017   
Unrecovered gas and electric costs     $1,236,124     

 
$1,106,277   

Deferred regulatory costs     4,279,839       4,166,223   
Deferred pension costs     4,043,072       5,774,901   
Total regulatory assets   

 
$9,559,035     

 
$11,047,401   

  
Unrecovered gas costs arise from an annual reconciliation of certain gas revenue and costs (as 
described in Note 1) and are recoverable in customer rates in the year following the reconciliation. 
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The following table summarizes regulatory costs at September 30, 2018 and 2017: 
  
  

      2018       2017   
Deferred rate case costs   

 
$348,475     

 
$443,474   

Deferred rate case reconciliations     3,931,364       3,722,749   
Total   

 
$4,279,839     

 
$4,166,223   

  
Deferred rate case costs are costs that were incurred in prior rate cases that are amortized over a period 
determined by the NYPSC or PAPUC in the current rate case and are recoverable over that period. 
Deferred rate case reconciliations result from target reconciliations set up in the current rate case and 
recovery will be determined by the NYPSC and PAPUC either through Delivery Rate Adjustment or 
the next rate case. 
  
In fiscal year 2015 the Gas Company determined that it met the criteria to record the minimum pension 
liability as a regulatory asset in accordance with FASB ASC 980-715-25-5. As a result of this change 
in estimate, amounts previously recorded as Accumulated OCI, net of tax has been recorded as 
regulatory assets in the current year in accordance with ASC 980-715-25-8, as well as a related 
deferred tax liability. The amount of the regulatory asset was $3,149,493 as of September 30, 2018 and 
$4,851,550 as of September 30, 2017. For periods after the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015, there 
will be no change to OCI because of the change in estimate. Factors considered included: (1) consistent 
recovery of the pension costs on an accrual basis historically and in the current rate case, (2) no 
indication of expected changes to recovery, and (3) the existence of a reconciliation process to track the 
recovery of these costs. For these reasons management determined the Gas Company met the criteria 
as set forth in ASC 980-725-25-5. 
  
Also included in pension costs and post-retirement benefits is approximately $893,579 and $851,500 
for 2018 and 2017, respectively, for regulatory assets and (liabilities) related to pension and post-
retirement costs. These amounts include both amounts approved to be amortized in the previous rate 
case and amounts being accumulated for the next rate case. 
  
The Company expects to recover the cost of its regulatory assets. The Company expects that regulatory 
assets other than deferred unrecovered gas costs and deferred pension costs related to minimum 
pension liability will be fully recoverable from customers by the end of its next rate case. 
  
Total Regulatory Assets on the Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2018 amounts to $9,559,035 
compared to $11,047,401 at September 30, 2017. The Regulatory Assets include $1,544,347 at 
September 30, 2018 and $349,547 at September 30, 2017 that is subject to Deferred Accounting 
Petitions and $845,707 at September 30, 2018 and $752,925 at September 30, 2017 that is under 
regulatory audit. The remaining items in regulatory assets are either approved in rates, part of annual 
reconciliations approved by the NYSPSC and PAPUC or approved through various commission 
directives. 
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(6) Long-term Debt  
  
Long-term debt, including the current portion, was as follows at September 30, 2018 and 2017: 
  

      2018       2017   
                  
Note Payable - fixed interest rate of 4.16% with monthly 
installments through November 2027   

 
$27,017,405     

 
$—     

Note Payable - fixed interest rate of 4.92% with monthly 
installments through May 2028     10,911,401       —     
Multiple Disbursement Note – variable interest rate through 
October 2018, fixed at 5.31% thereafter, with monthly 
installments through November 2028     2,534,424       —     
Vehicle loans - variable interest rate ranging from 4.69% to 5.1%     306,252       30,677   
Note Payable – repaid in 2018     —         15,742,857   
Note Payable – repaid in 2018     —         3,800,000   
Note Payable – repaid in 2018     —         4,200,000   
Demand Note Payable     —         3,000,000   
Note Payable - variable calculated quarterly with monthly 
installments through September 2021     —         11,300,000   
   Total long-term debt   

 
$40,769,482     

 
$38,073,534   

Less current installments     3,793,998       4,201,588   
Long-term debt less current installments   

 
$36,975,484     

 
$33,871,946   

  
  
  
The aggregate maturities of long-term debt for each of the five years subsequent to September 30, 2018 are 
as follows: 
  
  2019     

 
$3,793,998   

  2020     
 

$3,959,043   
  2021     

 
$12,402,551   

  2022     
 

$3,384,210   
  2023     

 
$3,534,150   

  
  
On November 30, 2017, the Gas Company entered into a long-term debt agreement with M&T Bank 
for $29 million at a fixed rate of 4.16% with a ten year maturity (the “November 2017 Credit 
Agreement”). Principal and interest payments on the note commenced on December 30, 2017, with 120 
consecutive monthly payments of $296,651 due on the last day of each month, with the unpaid 
principal and any unpaid interest due and payable in full on November 30, 2027. This debt replaced all 
of the Gas Company long term debt and a $3.0 million demand note payable that was presented as 
long-term debt as of September 30, 2017. This debt is secured by all personal property of the Gas 
Company including, among other things, accounts, deposit accounts, general intangibles, inventory, 
and all fixtures, including, among other things, pipelines, easements, rights of way and compressors in 
the Gas Company’s distribution system pursuant to the November 2017 Credit Agreement. The 
November 2017 Credit Agreement contains various affirmative and negative covenants of the Gas 
Company including, among others: (i) a “Total Funded Debt to Tangible Net Worth” (as such terms are 
defined in the November 2017 Credit Agreement) ratio of not greater than 1.40 to 1.0; and (ii) a “Total 
Funded Debt to EBITDA” (as such terms are defined in the November 2017 Credit Agreement) ratio of 
not greater than 3.75 to 1.0; and (iii) a minimum Cash Flow Coverage (as defined in the November 
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2017 Credit Agreement) of not less than 1.10 to 1.0; in each case measured quarterly based on the Gas 
Company’s trailing twelve month operating performance and fiscal quarterly financial statements; 
delivery of compliance and financial statement requirements, and prohibitions on any sale of all or 
substantially all of its assets, acquisitions of substantially all the assets of any other entity, doing 
business under any assumed name, material changes to its business, purposes, structure or operations 
which could materially adversely affect the Gas Company, or any merger, consolidation or other 
similar transaction. Events of default under the November 2017 Credit Agreement and the term note 
which permit the lender to exercise its remedies, including immediate acceleration of the principal and 
interest on any loans outstanding to the Gas Company, include, among others: (i) default in the 
payment of principal or interest on the loans under the November 2017 Credit Agreement, (ii) default 
by the Gas Company on any other obligation under the November 2017 Credit Agreement and related 
documents, (iii) failure to pay when due any other obligations of the Gas Company which could result 
in the acceleration of that obligation, (iv) various failures by any pension plan maintained by the Gas 
Company to comply with applicable law or any underfunding which the Lender determines may have 
an material adverse effect on the Gas Company’s ability to repay its debts, (v) entry of any judgments 
or order of any court or governmental entity against the Gas Company, and (vi) various bankruptcy and 
insolvency events. In addition, additional events of default under the November 2017 Credit 
Agreement include: any adverse change in the Gas Company, its business, assets, operations, affairs or 
condition which the lender determines will have a material adverse effect on the Gas Company, its 
business, assets, operation or condition (financial or otherwise) or on its ability to repay its debts, and 
at any time the lender in good faith deems itself insecure with respect to payment of the Gas 
Company’s obligations to it or other performance of such obligations. The November 2017 Security 
Agreement contains various representations, warranties, covenants and agreements customary in 
security agreements and various events of default substantially similar to those in the November 2017 
Credit Agreement with remedies under the New York Uniform Commercial Code and the November 
2017 Security Agreement. This refinancing is consistent with our June 2017 NYSPSC rate order. The 
2017 Term Note may be prepaid upon payment of a prepayment premium equal to the greater of 1% of 
the amount prepaid or the present value of the spread between the 4.16% fixed interest rate of the 2017 
Term Note and the then current “market rate” based on the most recent U.S. Treasury Obligations with 
a term corresponding to the remaining period to the maturity date. 

  
On May 23, 2018, Pike entered into a credit agreement (the “May 2018 Credit Agreement”) with 
Manufactures and Traders Trust Company (“M&T”) and refinanced its outstanding loan with M&T, 
issuing an $11.2 million term note pursuant to the May 2018 Credit Agreement. The Pike Credit 
Agreement contains various affirmative and negative covenants of Pike including: a total funded debt 
to EBITDA ratio of not greater than 3.75 to 1.0, measured quarterly based on Pike’s trailing twelve 
month operating performance and fiscal quarterly financial statements; a minimum cash flow coverage 
of not less than 1.10 to 1.0, measured quarterly based on Pike’s trailing twelve month operating 
performance and fiscal quarterly financial statements; compliance and financial statement 
requirements; and prohibitions on changes in management or control, any sale of all or substantially all 
of its assets, acquisitions of substantially all the assets of any other entity, or other material changes to 
its business, purposes, structure or operations which could materially adversely affect Pike. The note 
bears interest at 4.92%. The note is payable in 119 consecutive monthly payments of $118,763 plus 
accrued interest, beginning on June 23, 2018 with a final payment of unpaid principal and interest on 
the maturity date of May 23, 2028. The note is secured by all personal property of Pike. Pike will owe 
a pre-payment penalty of 1% on any pre-paid principal made in advance of the maturity date. 
  
On August 15, 2018, the Gas Company entered into a $3.6 million multiple disbursement term note 
with M&T which permitted draws from time to time in accordance with its terms until October 31, 
2018 at which time amounts outstanding under the note ($3.6 million) converted to a ten year term loan 
and be payable in 119 equal monthly installments with an additional final installment of unpaid 
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principal and interest due on November 30, 2028. As of September 30, 2018 the amount borrowed was 
$2.5 million. The remaining $1.1 million was borrowed in October 2018. Before converting to a term 
loan, the note bears interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus 3% (5.26% as of September 30, 2018). 
After October 31, 2018, the interest rate was fixed at 4.92%. Additional terms of this note are 
substantially the same as those in the November 2017 Credit Agreement. 
  
On January 27, 2016, we entered into an agreement with M&T in the amount of $17.4 million to 
consolidate all previous term debt into one loan. This note in the amount of $15.3 million was paid in 
full as part of the November 30, 2017 financing. 
  
Also on January 27, 2016, the Gas Company entered into an agreement with M&T in the amount of 
$4.2 million for a multiple disbursement note to refinance seventy percent of the NYPSC mandated 
2015 construction projects with no additional collateral pledged. All amounts have been borrowed as of 
March 31, 2016. This note in the amount of $3.7 million was paid in full as part of the November 30, 
2017 long term debt financing agreement with M&T. 
  
The Gas Company entered into an additional $4.2 million Multiple Disbursement Term Note with 
M&T on August 31, 2016 which permitted draws from time to time in accordance with its terms until 
December 31, 2016 at which time amounts outstanding under the note were payable in 56 monthly 
installments of principal, based on a 7-year amortization schedule, with all unpaid principal and 
interest payable in full on August 31, 2021. This note in the amount of $4.2 million was paid in full as 
part of the November 30, 2017 financing. 
   
On August 31, 2016, Pike entered into a Credit Agreement with M&T in the amount of $12.0 million. 
The outstanding debt under this credit agreement in the amount of $11.3 million was paid in full as part 
of the May 23, 2018 financing. 
  
The Gas Company and Pike were in compliance with all of their loan covenants as of September 30, 
2018. 
  
(7) Lines of Credit and Short Term Debt 
  
On May 8, 2017 the Gas Company entered into an agreement with M&T for a revolving line of credit 
of $8.0 million at a variable interest rate determined by the Gas Company’s funded debt to EBITDA 
ratio calculated ninety days after the end of each quarter added to the daily LIBOR rate. This line 
expired on April 1, 2018. The line of credit has been renewed under the same terms and expires on 
April 1, 2019. The amount outstanding under this line on September 30, 2018 was approximately $5.4 
million with an interest rate of 4.91%. The maximum amount outstanding during the year ended 
September 30, 2018 was $7,920,609. Our lender has a purchase money security interest in all our 
natural gas purchases utilizing funds advanced by the bank under the credit agreement and all proceeds 
of sale and accounts receivable from the sale of that gas. 
  
On August 31, 2016, Pike entered into an agreement with M&T for a $2.0 million revolving line of 
credit at an interest rate equal to LIBOR plus 2.75% with principal repayable on demand by the lender. 
The line of credit has been renewed under the same terms and expires on April 26, 2019. The amount 
outstanding under this line on September 30, 2018 was approximately $1.3 million with an interest rate 
of 5.06%. The maximum amount outstanding during the year ended September 30, 2018 was 
$1,841,429. The agreement contains various affirmative and negative covenants of Pike including, (i) a 
total funded debt to tangible net worth ratio of not greater than 1.4 to 1.0, (ii) a total funded debt to 
EBITDA ratio of not greater than 3.75 to 1.0, and (iii) a minimum cash flow overage of not less than 
1.1 to 1.0, with each of the financial covenants measured quarterly based on Pike’s trailing twelve 
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month operating performance and fiscal quarterly financial statements commencing with the period 
ended September 30, 2017; compliance, accounting, and financial statement requirements, and 
prohibitions on changes in management or control, any sale of all or substantially all of its assets, 
acquisitions of substantially all the asset of any other entity, or other material changes to its business, 
purposes, structure or operations which could materially adversely affect Pike. 
  
(8) Preferred Stock 
  
The Holding Company filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1 with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission with respect to a subscription rights offering to its stockholders to issue up to 
approximately $11.0 million in preferred stock. The subscription rights were distributed on a one-for-
one basis to stockholders of record as of April 14, 2016 and expired on June 20, 2016. The Form S-1 
covered 2,468,961 subscription rights for the purchase of up to 140,000 shares of 6% Series A 
Cumulative Preferred Stock and up to 360,000 shares of 4.8% Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. 
Each subscription right entitled the holder to purchase either: (i) one-eighth share of the 6% Series A 
Cumulative Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, for $25.00 per share, or (ii) one-sixth share of 
the 4.8% Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, for $20.75 per share, which 
is convertible in accordance with its terms into one share of common stock, subject to adjustment. Of 
the 140,000 shares of Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock available, 105,303 shares were subscribed 
and of the 360,000 shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock available, 244,263 shares were 
subscribed. Each shareholder exercising over-subscription rights was able to purchase all of the 
additional shares of Preferred Stock for which the shareholder subscribed. During the year ended 
September 30, 2016 the Holding Company received approximately $7.7 million less issuance costs of 
approximately $225,000 for net proceeds of approximately $7.5 million, of which approximately 
$197,000 of the Series A Preferred Stock proceeds was received from the Company’s Rabbi Trust 
investment. During the year ended September 30, 2017 the Holding Company received approximately 
$2.6 million less issuance costs of approximately $112,800 for net proceeds of approximately $2.5 
million, of which approximately $375,000 of the Series A Preferred Stock proceeds was received from 
the Company’s Rabbi Trust investment. 
   
Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock accrues cumulative dividends at a rate of 6.0% of the liquidation 
preference per share ($25.00) and are expected to be paid on or about the 14th day of April, July, 
October and January of each year starting October 14, 2016. The dates of record for the dividends, if 
any, will be March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, immediately preceding the relevant 
dividend payment date. On September 30, 2023, outstanding shares of Series A Cumulative Preferred 
Stock will mature and be redeemed solely in cash at a redemption price equal to the liquidation 
preference per share plus an amount equal to all accrued but unpaid dividends subject to our having 
funds legally available for redemption under New York law. In the event of a fundamental change as 
defined on the Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation, holders of Series A 
Cumulative Preferred Stock have the right to redeem their shares at a redemption price equal to the 
liquidation preference per share plus an amount equal to all accrued but unpaid dividends prior to the 
effective date of the fundamental change subject to our having funds legally available for such 
redemption under New York law. A fundamental change is generally defined as a change of control of 
the Holding Company. The holders of Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock will have no voting rights 
except as specifically required by New York laws or by the Charter, as amended by the Certificate of 
Amendment which allows voting rights under specific circumstances. If dividends on shares of Series 
A Cumulative Preferred Stock have not been declared and paid for eight or more consecutive dividend 
periods, the holders of Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock and Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, 
voting together as a single class with holders of all other preferred stock of equal rank having similar 
voting rights, will be entitled at our next special or annual meeting of shareholders to vote for the 
election of a total of one additional member of our Board of Directors, subject to certain limitations. 
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The Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock will rank, with respect to priority of dividend payments and 
rights upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, senior to all classes or series of our common stock, 
and to any other class or series of our capital stock issued in the future, unless the terms of that capital 
stock expressly provide that it ranks senior to, or on parity with, the Series B Convertible Preferred 
Stock; on parity with any class or series of our capital stock, the terms of which expressly provide that 
it will rank on parity with the Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, including the Series B Convertible 
Preferred Stock; and junior to any other class or series of our capital stock, the terms of which 
expressly provide that it will rank senior to the Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, none of which 
exists on the date hereto, and the issue of which would be subject to the approval of a majority of the 
outstanding shares of Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock and all other preferred stock of equal rank 
having similar rights voting as a single class; and subject to funds legally available and payment of or 
provision for our debts and other liabilities. 
  
In accordance with FASB ASC No. 480, because of the mandatory redemption feature, Series A 
Cumulative Preferred Stock is treated as liability. The issuance costs are treated as debt issuance costs 
and will be amortized over the life of the instrument and a direct reduction of the Preferred A shares on 
the balance sheet. Unamortized debt issuance costs were $105,668 and $112,880 at September 30, 
2018 and 2017, respectively. Dividends are recorded as interest expense. For the quarter ended 
September 30, 2018, $78,975 was accrued as interest expense and paid on October 12, 2018 to 
shareholders of record on September 30, 2018. For the quarter ended September 30, 2017, $78,975 was 
accrued for dividends paid on October 15, 2017 to shareholders of record on September 30, 2017. 
Preferred A dividends recorded as interest expense for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 
were approximately $315,000 and $210,000, respectively. 
  
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock accrues cumulative dividends at a rate of 4.8% of the liquidation 
preference per share ($20.75) and are expected to be paid on or about the 14th day of April, July, 
October and January of each year commencing October 14, 2016. The dates of record for the 
dividends, if any, will be March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, immediately preceding 
the relevant dividend payment date. At any time and from time to time after issuance, the shares of 
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock are convertible, in whole or in part, at the option of the holder 
into shares of common stock at the rate of one (1) share of our common stock for each one (1) share of 
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, subject to adjustment for standard anti-dilution adjustments such 
as stock dividends or stock distributions; subdivisions or combinations of our common stock; and 
certain tender or exchange offers by us or one of our subsidiaries for our common stock, in each case 
subject to certain exceptions. In the event a holder of shares of the Series B Convertible Preferred 
Stock elects to convert any shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock that would result in such 
shareholder owning more than 10% of the capital stock of the Gas Company under the provisions of 
Section 70 of the New York Public Service Law, that holder would be unable to exercise the 
conversion right without prior consent of the NYPSC. The Holding Company will not pay any cash to 
a holder in respect of such conversion or otherwise settle any such conversion in cash, other than the 
right of the holder to receive payment in lieu of any fraction of a share in exchange therefor. The 
NYPSC approved the exercise of conversion rights on any Series B Convertible Preferred Stock by our 
three existing shareholders of 10% or more of our common stock. In accordance with the stock split in 
Note 9 the conversion price of the preferred B shares is now 1 share into 1.2 shares of common stock. 
  
On September 30, 2026, outstanding shares of Series B Cumulative Preferred Stock will mature and be 
redeemed solely in cash at a redemption price equal to the liquidation preference per share plus an 
amount equal to all accrued but unpaid dividends subject to our having funds legally available under 
New York law. In the event of a fundamental change as defined on the Certificate of Amendment to 
the Certificate of Incorporation, holders of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock have the right to 
redeem their shares at a redemption price equal to the liquidation preference per share plus an amount 
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equal to all accrued but unpaid dividends prior to the effective date of the fundamental change subject 
to our having funds legally available for such redemption under New York law. A fundamental change 
is generally defined as a change of control of the Holding Company. 
  
The holders of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock will have no voting rights except as specifically 
required by New York laws or by the Holding Company’s Charter, as amended by the Certificate of 
Amendment which allows voting rights under specific circumstances as described in the Certificate of 
Amendment. If dividends on shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock have not been declared 
and paid for eight or more consecutive dividend periods, the holders of Series B Convertible Preferred 
Stock and the Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class with holders of all 
other preferred stock of equal rank having similar voting rights, will be entitled at our next special or 
annual meeting of shareholders to vote for the election of a total of one additional member of our 
Board of Directors, subject to certain limitations. 
  
The Series B Convertible Preferred Stock will rank, with respect to priority of dividend payments and 
rights upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up senior to all classes or series of our common stock, 
and to any other class or series of our capital stock issued in the future, unless the terms of that capital 
stock expressly provide that it ranks senior to, or on parity with, the Series A Cumulative Preferred 
Stock; on parity with any class or series of our capital stock, the terms of which expressly provide that 
it will rank on parity with the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, including the Series A Cumulative 
Preferred Stock; and junior to any other class or series of our capital stock, the terms of which 
expressly provide that it will rank senior to the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, none of which 
exists on the date of this report, and the issue of which would be subject to the approval of a majority 
of the outstanding shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock and all other stock of equal rank 
having similar rights voting as a single class; and subject to funds legally available and payment of or 
provision for our debts and other liabilities. 
  
In accordance with FASB ASC No. 480, Series B Cumulative Preferred Stock is not considered 
mandatorily redeemable as a result of the conversion feature presenting a contingency related to the 
redemption dates. Accordingly, this is not considered a liability. However, as a result of the decision 
related to conversion and not reaching redemption resting with the holder, this instrument has been 
classified as temporary equity in accordance with ASC 480. Upon conversion, the instrument would be 
reclassified as permanent equity. Dividends will be recorded each period in the consolidated statement 
of changes in stockholders’ equity and began to accrue July 1, 2016. For the quarter ended September 
30, 2018, $61,066 was accrued for dividends paid on October 12, 2018 to shareholders of record on 
September 30, 2018. The Company determined that bifurcation of the embedded conversion option 
feature was not required. The issuance costs of approximately $150,000 reduce the initial proceeds and 
will be accreted until redemption or conversion. 
  
(9) Stockholders’ Equity 
  
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, there were a total of 27,054 shares of common stock 
issued for $223,783 of services and $165,075 in connection with the DRIP (dividend reinvestment 
program). There were 16,725 shares issued to officers and directors, 750 shares sold to Leatherstocking 
Gas, which used the shares to compensate its independent director, Carl Hayden and 9,579 shares 
issued to various investors under the DRIP. 
  
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, there were a total of 20,191 shares of common stock 
issued for $149,500 of services and $171,693 in connection with the DRIP (dividend reinvestment 
program). There were 11,025 shares issued to directors, 450 shares sold to Leatherstocking Gas, which 
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used the shares to compensate its independent director, Carl Hayden and 8,716 shares issued to various 
investors under the DRIP. 
  
Dividends on shares of common stock are accrued when declared by the board of directors. For the 
quarter ended December 31, 2016, $372,347 was accrued for dividends paid on January 15, 2017 to 
stockholders of record on December 31, 2016. For the quarter ended March 31, 2017, $397,997 was 
accrued for dividends paid on April 15, 2017 to stockholders of record on March 31, 2017. For the 
quarter ended June 30, 2017, $403,684 was accrued for dividends paid on July 15, 2017 to 
stockholders of record on June 30, 2017. For the quarter ended September 30, 2017, $403,990 was 
accrued for dividends paid on October 15, 2017 to shareholders of record on September 30, 2017. For 
the quarter ended December 31, 2017, $405,328 was accrued for dividends paid on January 15, 2018 to 
stockholders of record on December 31, 2017. For the quarter ended March 31, 2018, $421,110 was 
accrued for dividends paid on April 16, 2018 to stockholders of record on March 31, 2018. For the 
quarter ended June 30, 2018, $421,932 was accrued for dividends paid on July 16, 2018 to 
stockholders of record on June 30, 2018. For the quarter ended September 30, 2018, $422,739 was 
accrued for dividends paid on October 12, 2018 to stockholders of record on September 30, 2018. Total 
dividends for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 were $1,671,109 and $1,587,284, 
respectively. 
  
On April 27, 2017, at its regular meeting, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a 20% common 
stock dividend payable to holders of record of its Common Stock on May 30, 2017, payable on or 
about June 15, 2017. The dividend was equivalent to one share of common stock issued for each five 
shares of common stock outstanding. There were 498,310 shares issued. The relative size of the 
additional shares issued made the substance of the transaction that of a stock split effected in the form 
of a dividend. It was the Company’s intent to obtain wider distribution and improved marketability of 
the shares. In accordance with this transaction there was no adjustment to the stated par value of the 
common stock and the Company recorded the transaction at par value. In connection with this dividend 
the conversion price for the preferred shares Series B was adjusted from one share of common stock to 
1.2 shares. The Company has retrospectively restated the consolidated financial statements, share and 
per share information included in this annual report on a post-split basis. 
  
(10) Investment in Joint Ventures 

The Holding Company has an interest in Leatherstocking Gas and Leatherstocking Pipeline, each of 
which is a joint venture with Mirabito Regulated Industries, LLC, accounted for by the equity method. 
Leatherstocking Gas is currently moving forward on expansions to several areas in the northeast. The 
Holding Company and Mirabito Industries each own 50% of the joint venture and each appoints three 
managers to operate Leatherstocking Gas. The seventh manager is a neutral manager agreed to by the 
Holding Company and Mirabito Industries who is not an officer, director, or employee of either 
company, currently Carl T. Hayden. The current managers are Joseph P. Mirabito, John J. Mirabito and 
William Mirabito from Mirabito Industries; Matthew J. Cook, Michael I. German and Russell S. Miller 
from the Holding Company; and Carl T. Hayden as the neutral manager. Michael I. German is the 
Chief Executive Officer and President of the Holding Company and is also a stockholder and current 
board member of the Holding Company. Joseph P. Mirabito and William Mirabito are stockholders 
and current board members of the Holding Company. Leatherstocking Gas has received franchises 
from the Village and Town of Sidney, Village and Town of Bainbridge, Village and Town of Windsor, 
Village and Town of Unadilla, and Village and Town of Delhi in New York. Leatherstocking Gas’ 
petitions for authority to exercise its franchises in the Town and Village of Windsor are currently 
pending before the NYPSC. In addition, Leatherstocking Gas has acquired sixteen franchises in 
Susquehanna and Bradford Counties, Pennsylvania. 
The interests in Leatherstocking Pipeline, which was formed with the same structure and managers as 
Leatherstocking Gas, are also held by the Holding Company. Leatherstocking Pipeline is an 
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unregulated company whose purpose is to serve one customer in Lawton, Pennsylvania. In the spring 
and summer of 2012, Leatherstocking Pipeline built and placed in service facilities to serve that 
customer. The investment and equity in both Leatherstocking companies (collectively, the “Joint 
Ventures”) has been recognized in the consolidated financial statements. The Holding Company has 
accounted for its equity investment using the equity method of accounting based on the guidelines 
established in FASB ASC No. 323. In applying the guidance of FASB ASC No. 323, the Holding 
Company recognized the investment in the Joint Ventures as an asset at cost. The investment will 
fluctuate in future periods based on the Holding Company’s allocable share of earnings or losses from 
the Joint Ventures which is recognized through earnings. 
  
The following table represents the Holding Company’s investment activity in the Joint Ventures at 
September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017: 
  

   2018     2017   
Beginning balance in investment in joint ventures 

 
$2,707,406     $2,583,582   

Investment in joint ventures during year  165,000     255,000   

Loss in joint ventures during year
   

(131,831
   

(131,176
 
)
 

Ending balance in joint ventures
 

 $2,740,575
     

$2,707,406
   

  
As of and for the year ended September 30, 2018, the Joint Ventures had combined assets of $13.3 
million, combined liabilities of $7.9 million and combined net losses of approximately ($264,000). As 
of and for the year ended September 30, 2017, the Joint Ventures had combined assets of $12.9 
million, combined liabilities of $7.6 million and combined net losses of approximately $262,000. 
(11) Income Taxes 
  
 Income tax expense for the years ended September 30 is as follows: 
  

Income tax expense for the years ended September 30 is as follows:               
    2018       2017   
Current 

 
$42,372     

 
$101,500   

Deferred   1,640,887       598,547   
Total 

 
$1,683,259     

 
$700,047   

                
  
Actual income tax expense differs from the expected tax expense computed at the statuary rate of 
24.25% as follows: 
  

  2018   2017   
Expected federal tax expense $928,175   $952,229   

Regulatory deferral for tax rate difference
 

411,421
   

—
     

Prior Year Tax Recorded
 

168,591
       

Adjustment of non-regulatory tax reserves for tax rate difference
 

(83,998
 

)
 

—
     

Regulatory adjustment

 

—

     
(346,183

 

)
Dividends received deduction

 

—

     

(10,517

 

)
State tax

 

expense (net of federal)

 

273,199

   

183,279

   

Other, net

 

(14,129

 

)

 

(78,761

 

)
Actual tax expense

 
 

$1,683,259

   

$700,047

   
  
  

 
 

)
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The tax effects of temporary differences that result in deferred income tax assets and liabilities at 
September 30 are as follows: 
   

      2018       2017   
Deferred income tax assets:                 
Unbilled revenue   

 
$61,910     

 
$93,141   

Deferred compensation reserve     386,348       582,664   
Post-retirement benefit obligations     1,242,647       2,799,467   
Inventories     —         16,941   
NOL carryforwards     1,783,281       3,220,127   
Deferred Tax Asset resulting from 2017 Jobs Act     1,075,299           
Customer Contribution     953,347           
Other     463,043       945,067   
Total deferred income tax assets     5,965,875       7,657,407   
                  
Deferred income tax liabilities:                 
Property, plant and equipment, principally due to differences 
in depreciation     9,015,898       11,586,697   
Pension benefit obligations     661,394       1,880,268   
Comprehensive income     39,662       23,295   
Deferred rate expense and allocations     95,830       179,607   
Deficiency of gas adjustment clause revenues billed     376,203       467,944   
Intangibles     76,675       124,141   
Other     596,984       180,895   
Total deferred income tax liabilities     10,862,646       14,442,847   
                  
Net deferred income tax (assets) liabilities   

 
$4,896,771     

 
$6,785,440   

  
The Holding Company has federal, New York and Pennsylvania State tax net operating loss carry 
forwards available of approximately $4.7 million for federal and $9.0 million for state as of September 
30, 2018 that begin to expire at the end of the Holding Company’s fiscal 2025 tax year. 
On August 9, 2018 The NYSPSC issued an order in Case 17-M-0815 that required the Company to 
quantify the amount of the deferred taxes that will be due customers as a result of the 2017 Jobs and 
Cut Act. The PAPUC issued a similar order in Case M-2018-2641242. The estimated amount due 
customers has been recorded as regulatory liability in the amount of $3,777,495. 
The accounting rules for uncertain taxes provide for the determination of whether tax benefits claimed 
or expected to be claimed on a tax return should be recognized in the financial statements. The Holding 
Company has evaluated its tax positions and accordingly has not identified any significant uncertain 
tax positions. The Holding Company’s policy is to classify interest associated with uncertain tax 
positions as interest expense in the financial statements. Penalties are classified under other expense. 
The Holding Company files a consolidated federal income tax return and the Gas Company and Pike 
file separate state income tax returns in New York and Pennsylvania. 
  
(12) Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans  
  
There are currently three covered participants related to the deferred compensation obligation that are 
all former officers. The liability on the consolidated balance sheet represents the present value of the 
future obligation. In 1997, the Gas Company established a trust (the Rabbi Trust) to fund a deferred 
compensation plan for certain officers. The fair market value of assets in the trust was $2,155,281 (plus 
$38,197 in additional stock) and $2,172,171 (plus $40,377 in additional stock) at September 30, 2018 
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and 2017, respectively, and the plan liability, which is labeled as deferred compensation on the balance 
sheet, was $1,412,345 and $1,443,729 at September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The assets of the 
trust are available to general creditors in the event of insolvency. In 2018, the mortality assumption 
was based on the 2008 VBT Primary Male Smoker tables with generational improvements using scale 
MP-2016 for two of the covered participants which resulted in a decrease in the liabilities of $31,384. 
  
The Gas Company has defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all of its employees. The 
benefits are based on years of service and the employee’s highest average compensation during a 
specified period. The Gas Company makes annual contributions to the plans equal to amounts 
determined in accordance with the funding requirements of the Employee Retirement Security Act of 
1974. Contributions are intended to provide for benefits attributed for service to date, and those 
expected to be earned in the future. 
  
In addition to the Gas Company’s defined benefit pension plans, the Gas Company offers post-
retirement benefits comprised of medical and life coverage to its employees who meet certain age and 
service criteria. For union participants who retire on or after September 2, 1992, the Gas Company cost 
for post-retirement benefits is contractually limited and will not exceed $150 per month. This contract 
is in effect until April 5, 2021. The monthly benefit for all non-union employees, who retire between 
the ages of 62 and 65, will be the lesser of 40% of the retiree’s plan premium or $150. After age 65, the 
Gas Company pays up to $150 a month for the cost of the retiree’s supplemental plan. In addition, the 
Gas Company offers limited life insurance coverage to active employees and retirees. The post-
retirement benefit plan is not funded. The Gas Company accrues the cost of providing post-retirement 
benefits during the active service period of the employee.  
  
The following table shows reconciliations of the Gas Company’s pension and post-retirement plan 
benefits as of September 30: 
  

      Pension Benefits     Post-retirement Benefits 
      2018       2017       2018       2017   
Change in benefit obligations:                                 
  Benefit obligation at beginning of year   

 
$22,011,497     

 
$22,027,976     

 
$1,409,521     

 
$1,486,476   

  Service cost (excluding expected 
expenses)     421,642       433,097       17,781       21,140   

  Interest cost     961,202       900,772       48,240       47,098   
  Participant contributions     —         —         107,254       82,699   
  Actuarial loss     (398,494 )     (326,249 )     (154,349 )     (70,558 ) 
  Benefits paid     (1,165,319 )     (1,024,099 )     (193,158 )     (157,334 ) 

Curtailments     —         —         —         —     
  Benefit obligation at end of year     21,830,528       22,011,497       1,235,289       1,409,521   
Change in plan assets:                                 
  Fair value of plan assets at beginning of 
year     16,149,671       14,884,196       —         —     
  Actual return on plan assets     1,371,493       1,118,638       —         —     
  Company contributions     974,364       1,177,960       85,904       74,635   
  Participant contributions     —         —         107,254       82,699   
  Benefits paid     (1,172,808 )     (1,031,123 )     (193,158 )     (157,334 ) 
  Fair value of plan assets at end of year     17,322,720       16,149,671       —         —     
Funded status     (4,507,808 )     (5,861,826 )     (1,235,289 )     (1,409,521 ) 
Unrecognized net actuarial loss/(gain)     3,103,970       4,642,637       (93,919 )     65,924   
Unrecognized prior service cost     —         —         139,442       142,989   
(Accrued) prepaid benefit cost     (1,403,838 )     (1,219,189 )     (1,189,766 )     (1,200,608 ) 
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Accrued contribution     —         —         —         —     
                                  
Amounts recognized in the balance sheets 
consists of:                                 
accrued benefit liability     (4,507,808 )     (5,861,826 )     (1,235,289 )     (1,409,521 ) 
                                  
Amounts recognized in the balance sheets 
consist of:                                 
  Accrued pension cost as of beginning of 

fiscal year     (1,219,189 )     (1,142,551 )     (1,200,608 )     (1,189,810 ) 
  Pension (cost     (1,071,707 )     (1,159,013 )     (75,062 )     (85,433 ) 
  Contributions     974,364       1,177,960       —         —     
  Change in receivable contribution     (87,306 )     (95,585 )                 
  Net benefits paid     —         —         85,904       74,635    
  Change in additional minimum liability     —         —                 ----   
  Accrued pension cost as of end of fiscal 

year     (1,403,838 )     (1,219,189 )     (1,189,766 )     (1,200,608)    
                                  
Fair value of plan assets at end of year                                 
  Cash and equivalents   

 
$323,755     

 
$110,596       —         ----    

  Government and agency issues     4,076,999       4,371,407       —         ----    
  Corporate bonds     2,997,197       3,031,536       —         ----    
  Fixed index funds     843,799       558,530       —         ----    
  Fixed income     594,130       401,031       —         ----    
  Equity securities     8,486,840       7,676,571       —         ----    
    

 
$17,322,720     

 
$16,149,671       —         ----    

  
  
  
The funded status of both plans totaling a deficiency of approximately $5.7 million and $7.3 million at 
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, are included in deferred pension & post-retirement 
benefits on the consolidated balance sheets along with an additional pension regulatory liability of 
approximately $273,000 and $264,000 as of September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017, respectively 
for amounts owed to customers. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015 the Gas Company determined that 
it meets the criteria to record these items as a regulatory asset in accordance with FASB ASC No. 980-
715-25-5. See Note 5 to the Notes of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. 
  

  
Amortization of unrecognized net loss for the Retirement Plan for fiscal year ending September 30, 
2018: 
  
  

  1     Projected benefit obligation as of September 30, 2018   
 

$21,830,528   
  2     Plan assets at September 30, 2018     (17,322,720 ) 
  3     Unrecognized loss as of September 30, 2018     3,103,970   
  4     Ten percent of greater of (1) or (2)     2,183,053   
  5     Unamortized loss subject to amortization - (3) minus (4)     920,917   
  6     Active future service of active plan participants expected to receive benefits     11.38   
  7     Minimum amortization of unamortized net loss - (5)/(6)     80,924   

 
8   Amortization of loss for 2017-2018     $850,661   

           
  

  

-55-



Amortization of unrecognized net loss for the Post-Retirement Plan for the fiscal year ended September 
30, 2018: 
  

Unrecognized net loss at October 1, 2017 subject to amortization   
 

$139,442   
Amount to be amortized 2018 - 2019         
Amortization period     13 years   
Amortization for 2018 - 2019 (loss divided by period)   

 
$10,726   

  
  
  
      Pension Benefits       Post-retirement Benefits   
      2018       2017       2018       2017   
Components of net period benefit cost :                                 
Service cost     428,642       440,097       17,781       21,140   
Interest cost     961,202       900,772       48,240       47,098   
Expected return on plan assets     (1,200,819 )     (1,115,909 )     —         —     
Amortization of prior service     —         2,622       3,547       3,547   
Amortization of unrecognized actuarial 
loss     969,988       1,027,016       5,494       13,648   
Net periodic benefit cost     1,159,013       1,254,598       75,062       85,433   
  

  
For ratemaking and financial statement purposes, pension and post-retirement represents the amount 
approved by the NYPSC in the Gas Company’s most recently approved rate case. Pension and post 
retirement expense (benefit) for ratemaking and financial statement purposes was approximately 
$941,427 and $764,000 for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The difference 
between the pension expense (benefit) for ratemaking and financial statement purposes, and the 
amount computed above has been deferred as regulatory assets and are not included in the prepaid 
pension cost noted above. The cumulative amounts deferred equal $893,579 and $923,351 as of 
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
  
  

      Pension Benefits     Post-retirement Benefits 
      2018       2017       2018       2017   
Weighted average assumptions used to 
determine net                                 
period cost at September 30:                                 
Discount rate     4.89% 

 
    4.49% 

 
    4.01% 

 
    3.53% 

 Salary increases     3.00% 
 
    2.00% 

 
    N/A       N/A   

Expected return on assets     7.50% 
 
    7.50% 

 
    N/A       N/A   

  
For the year ended September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017, the discount rate was prepared by 
utilizing an analysis of the plan’s expected future cash flows and high-quality fixed-income 
investments currently available and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the 
pension benefits. The discount rate used is an estimate of the rate at which a defined benefit pension 
plan could settle its 
obligations. Rather than using a rate and curve developed using a bond portfolio, this method selects 
individual bonds to match to the expected cash flows of the Plan. Management feels this provides a 
more accurate depiction of the true cost to the Plan to settle the obligations as the Plan could 
theoretically go into the marketplace and purchase the specific bonds used in the analysis in order to 
settle the obligations of the Plan. 
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The expected returns on plan assets of the Retirement Plan and Post-Retirement Plan are applied to the 
market-related value of plan assets of the respective plans. For the Retirement Plan, the market-related 
value of assets recognizes the performance of its portfolio over five years and reduces the effects of 
short-term market fluctuations. The Gas Company’s Retirement Plan assets are invested by a manager 
that reports at least annually to the Gas Company’s Investment Committee for review and evaluation. 
The manager has been given the objective to achieve modest capital appreciation with a secondary 
objective of achieving a relatively high level of current income using a mix of cash equivalents, fixed 
income securities and equities to structure a balanced investment portfolio. The Investment Committee 
does not reserve control over investment decisions, with the exception of certain limitations, and holds 
the manager responsible and accountable to achieve the stated objectives. The market-related value of 
Post-Retirement Plan assets is set equal to market value. 

For measurement purposes, a 7% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered benefits 
(health care cost trend rate) was assumed for 2018. A 1% increase in the actual health care cost trend 
would result in approximately a 3.5% increase in the service and interest cost components of the annual 
net periodic post-retirement benefit cost and a 4.8% increase in the accumulated post-retirement benefit 
obligation. A 1% decrease in the actual health care cost trend would result in approximately a 2.9% 
decrease in the service and interest cost components of the annual net periodic post-retirement benefit 
cost and a 4.1% decrease in the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation. 

The Gas Company expects to contribute $711,098 to the Retirement Plan during the year ended 
September 30, 2019. 

The estimated pension plan benefit payments are as follows: 
2019  $1,325,795  
2020  $1,409,858  
2021  $1,458,455  
2022  $1,450,201  
2023  $1,458,056  
2024+   $7,626,536  

The Gas Company also maintains the Corning Natural Gas Corporation Employee Savings Plan (the 
“Savings Plan”). All employees of the Gas Company who work for more than 1,000 hours per year and 
who have completed one year of service may enroll in the Savings Plan at the beginning of each 
calendar quarter. Under the Savings Plan, participants may contribute up to 50% of their wages. For all 
employees, the Gas Company will match one-half of the participant’s contribution up to a total of 50% 
of the participant’s contribution up to a total of 6% of the participant’s wages. The plan is subject to the 
federal limitation. The Gas Company contribution to the plan was $93,538 in 2018 and $90,685 in 
2017. 

(13) Segment Reporting 

The Company’s reportable segments have been determined based upon the nature of the products and 
services offered, customer base, availability of discrete internal financial information, homogeneity of 
products, delivery channel and other factors. 
The Corning Natural Gas Corporation (the “Gas Company”) is a gas distribution company providing 
gas on a commodity and transportation basis to its customers in the Southern Tier of New York State. 
Pike County Light & Power Company (“Pike”) provides electricity and natural gas to Pike County, 
Pennsylvania. The Holding Company is the parent company of all subsidiaries and has a 50% 
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ownership in the Leatherstocking joint ventures. Corning Natural Gas Appliance Corporation’s (the 
“Appliance Company”) information is presented with the Holding Company as it is has little activity. 
The following table reflects the results of the segments consistent with the Holding Company’s internal 
financial reporting process. The following results are used in part, by management, both in evaluating 
the performance of, and in allocating resources to, each of the segments. 
   

  
       For the year ended September 30, 2018   

      
Gas 

Company       Pike       
Holding 

Company       
Total 

Consolidated   
Total electric utility revenue   

 
$0     

 
$8,600,381     

 
$0     

 
$8,600,381   

Total gas utility revenue   
 
$24,050,606     

 
$1,626,174     

 
$0     

 
$25,676,780   

Investment income   
 

$80,174     
 

$0     
 

$0     
 

$80,174   
Equity investment (loss)   

 
$0     

 
$0     

 
$(131,831 )   

 
$(131,831 ) 

Net income (loss)   
 

$1,705,445     
 

$878,690     
 

$(439,867 )   
 

$2,144,268   
Income tax expense (benefit)   

 
$1,359,655     

 
$337,623     

 
$(14,019 )   

 
$1,683,259   

Interest expense   
 

$1,281,675     
 

$533,588     
 

$317,248     
 

$2,132,511   
Depreciation expense   

 
$1,781,933     

 
$589,907     

 
$3,660     

 
$2,375,500   

Amortization expense   
 

$206,863     
 

$281,868     
 

$20,452     
 

$509,183   
Total assets   

 
$81,706,061     

 
$26,686,811     

 
$3,350,333     

 
$111,743,205   

Capital expenditures   
 

$6,359,565     
 

$1,473,142     
 

$0     
 

$7,832,707   
                                  

       For the year ended September 30, 2017   
Total electric utility revenue   

 
$0     

 
$8,562,787     

 
$0     

 
$8,562,787   

Total gas utility revenue   
 
$20,238,540     

 
$1,240,840     

 
$0     

 
$21,479,380   

Investment income   
 

$212,875     
 

$0     
 

$0     
 

$212,875   
Equity investment (loss)   

 
$0     

 
$0     

 
$(131,175 )   

 
$(131,175 ) 

Net income (loss)   
 

$1,456,160     
 

$963,889     
 

$(319,421 )   
 

$2,100,628   
Income tax expense (benefit)   

 
$168,999     

 
$680,634     

 
$(149,586 )   

 
$700,047   

Interest expense   
 

$1,180,765     
 

$496,702     
 

$217,703     
 

$1,895,170   
Depreciation expense   

 
$1,708,742     

 
$434,342     

 
$0     

 
$2,143,084   

Amortization expense   
 

$682,888     
 

$227,275     
 

$0     
 

$910,163   
Total assets   

 
$79,281,143     

 
$23,683,430     

 
$3,758,681     

 
$106,723,254   

Capital expenditures   
 

$5,188,772     
 

$1,258,507     
 

$0     
 

$6,447,279   
  

(14) Commitments and Contingencies 
  
The Gas Company is a local distribution company and has contracted for gas supply from various 
sources to provide the commodity to the city gates. The city gate is the transfer point at which we take 
ownership of the gas supply from local producers and interstate pipelines and billing metering starts. 
The Gas Company maintains storage capacity of approximately 736,000 dekatherms. The Gas 
Company is responsible for managing its gas supply assets. At September 30, 2018, the Gas Company 
had 657,293 dekatherms at a cost of $1,620,916 in storage. As the result of these actions, we anticipate 
that the Gas Company will have sufficient gas to supply our customers for the 2018-2019 winter 
heating season. The contract with O&R should provide sufficient electricity and natural gas to supply 
Pike for the 2018-2019 winter heating and summer cooling. 
  
The Gas Company has secured the NYPSC required fixed price and storage gas supply for the winter 
season and is managing its gas storage and gas contracts to assure that the Gas Company follows its 
gas supply and acquisition plan. The gas supply plan is a formal document that defines how we acquire 
natural gas to supply our customers. The plan is submitted to the NYPSC every year and adherence to 
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the plan is a regulatory mandate. Assuming no extraordinary conditions for the winter season, gas 
supply, both flowing and storage, will be adequate to serve our approximately 15,000 customers. 
  
Environmental Considerations: The Gas Company and Pike are subject to various federal, state and 
local environments laws and regulations. Both the Gas Company and Pike have established procedures 
for the ongoing evaluation of its operations to identify potential environmental exposures and assure 
compliance with regulatory policies and procedures. Management believes the Gas Company and Pike 
are in compliance with all applicable regulations. 
  
(15) Related Party Transactions 
  
Related party receivables are expenditures paid on behalf of the Holding Company’s joint venture 
investments. The outstanding receivable as of September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017 was 
$208,876 and $90,533 respectively. 
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Upon written request to the address below, we will provide, without charge, a copy of 
our annual report on Form 10-K, including the financial statements and the financial 
statement schedules, required to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion pursuant to Rule 13a-1 under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amend-
ed, for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. 

Attn: Firouzeh Sarhangi, Corporate Secretary
Corning Natural Gas Corporation

330 West William Street
Corning, New York 14830

(607) 936-3755

Korhman, Jackson, & Krantz
1375 East Ninth Street
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